CITY OF EASTON
EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT
DECEMBER 31,2016

PALMER AND COMPANY
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
40 SOUTH FOURTH STREET
EASTON, PA 18042



CITY OF EASTON

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Independent Auditor's Report
Management's Discussion and Analysis
CITY-WIDE FINANCIAT, STATEMENTS

Statement of Net Position
Statement of Activities

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to Statement
of Net Position
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balance - Governmental Funds
Reconcitiation of Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to Statement of Activities
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position -
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Changes in Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balance - Budget and Actuai - General Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Debt Service Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Debt Service Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

Required Supplementary Information

Schedules of Changes in Net Pension Liability - Officers’ and Employees’ Pension Plan
Schedules of Changes in Net Pension Liability - Firemens' Pension Plan

Schedules of Changes in Net Pension Liability - Police Pension Plan

Schedules of Changes in Net Pension Liability - PMRS Pension Plan

Schedule of Funding Progress - Other Post Employment Benefits

Other Supplemental Information - Combining Schedules
Schedule of Capital Project Funds
Schedule of Special Revenue Funds

Report on Compliance and Internal Controls over Financial
Reporting

3-15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22

23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30-79
80 -381
82-83
84 -85

86 - 87
1]

89
90

91-92



PALMER AND COMPANY
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

40 SOUTH FOURTH STREET
EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA 18042

CARL E. FLEMING, C.P.A. ELLSWORTH C. PALMER, C.P.A., RM.A.
KEITH E. FLEMING, C.P.A. . (Founder 1937-1965)
ScoTT R. FLEMING TELEPHONE (610) 258-0401

FAX (610) 252-5040
E-Mail: office@palmerandcompany.net

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Honorable Mayor and
Members of Council

City of Easton

Easton, Pennsylvania 18042

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the general
and debt service funds budgetary comparison statements of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2016, and the related notes 1o the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents. We did not audit the financial statements of the City of Easton Redevelopment
Authority or the Easton Housing Authority. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose repert has not
been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as -t relates to the amounts included of the City of Easton Redevelopment
Authority and Easton Housing Authorify, would be based on the report of other auditors.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Governmment Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions,

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial siaterments referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position
of the governmenta! activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania, as of December 31, 2016, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis
on pages 3-13, and schedules of changes in Net Pension Liability, City contributions and Funding Progress on papges 30-88 be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements,
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
piacing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consist of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquires, the basic financials statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion cr provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance. '

Supplementary Information

Qur audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City of
Easton, Pennsylvania's basic financial statements The accompanying supplementary information, such as Capital Projects and
Non-major Funds, are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The combining and individual non-major fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relate direetly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional precedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
combining and individual non-major fund financial statements are fairly presented in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 30, 2017, on our
consideration of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's internal control over finaneial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of law, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matter. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that {esting, and
not to provide an opinion on internal controt over financial reporling or en compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

D orner coned %MW¢

Easton, Pennsylvania
October 30, 2017



City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CITY OF EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) presents a narrative overview and analysis
of the financial activities of the City of Easton (City) for the year ended December 31, 2016. We
recommend that it be read in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and
notes to financial statements in order to obtain a thorough understanding of the City’s financial
condition as of December 31, 2016. This discussion focuses on the City’s primary government.
Component units, unless otherwise noted, are not included in this discussion.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Within the City-wide financial statements the governmental net position increased by $2,716,169
after current changes in net position.

The City’s overall financial position, as reflected in total net position, dramatically declined in the
prior year as a result of GASB 68, which required governmental entities to recognize unfunded
Pension liabilities. The Statement and its component statement No. 67 have a massive impact on
all governments entity wide statements. H affects every government in the Commonwealth of PA
and every other government located in all 50 states, including state governments.

In 2016, the City continued its strong financial performance within the fund financial statements
which highlight this performance. For your convenience and information, the management of the
City provides these financial highlights and executive summary:

» Eleventh Consecutive General Fund Surplus — The City is pleased to report its eleventh
consecutive General Fund surplus (fiscal year 2006 through fiscal year 2016). The City’s
surplus from operating activities was $749,877 in 2016. The City administration did not
have a necessity to appropriate from the fund balance an amount of funds as a funding
source for the 2017 budget.

o Adopted Fund Balance Policy - In December 2011, the City Council adopted a financial
policy to achieve certain fund balances by December 2016. In 2016, the City has
continued its efforts to meet these minimum levels. Specifically:

1} Minimum General Fund Balance — Set “at a minimum of 10% of budgeted
general fund revenues” by 2016 or $3.28 million using the 2016 budget for
reference. As of December 31, 2016, the City had a General Fund unassigned
balance of $4,637,128, which is above the minimum goal of the target date year
of 2016.

2) Minimum Health Care Fund Balance — “Should maintain a balance of
$3,000,000” by year end 2017, as of December 31, 2016, the Health Care Fund
had a balance of $171,830. The City of Easton may consider an assignment of
funds in addition to budgeted allocations for the year 2017. The City’s seeing
better than anticipated claims experience which should also positively impact this
Fund.
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3) Mimimum Liability and Casualty Fund Balance — “Should maintain a balance of
$1,000,000” by 2017. As of December 31, 2016, the City had a Liability and
Casualty Fund balance of $1,135,986, which is 113% of the minimum goal.

These highlights are detailed in the information provided below.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This report consists of four parts:

Management’s discussion and analysis (this section)-
Basic financial statements (including notes)
Required supplementary information

Supplementary information

& & 9

Management’s discussion and analysis is a guide to reading the financial statements and provides
related information to help the reader to better understand City government. The basic financial
statements include notes that provide additional information essential to a full understanding of
the financial data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. Required
supplementary information is provided on the City’s pension and other post-employment benefit
plans and budget-to-actual figures for the General Fund and other budgeted major funds. In
addition to these required elements, an optronal supplementary section is included with other
statements that provide particulars about minor funds.

The basic financial statements present two different views of the City.
e  Government-wide Financial Statements — The first two statements provide a broad
overview of the City’s overall financial status as well as the financial status of the City’s
component units, in a manner similar to private-sector business.

o Fund Financial Statements — The remaining statements focus on individual parts of City
government. They provide more detail on operations than the government-wide
statements. There are three types of fund financial statements:

1) Government Funds Statements show how general government services such as
public safety were financed in the short term, as well as what remains for future
spending.

2) Proprietary Funds Statements offer short-term and long-term financial
information about the activities the City operates like a business.

3) Fiduciary Funds Statements reflect activities involving resources that are held by
the City as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others, including the City’s
retirement plans. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide
statements because the resources cannot be used to support the City’s programs.
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Table A-1 summarizes the major features of the City’s financial statements, including the area of
the City’s activities they cover and the types of information they contain.

Table A-1: Major features of the government-wide and fund financial statements

Government-wide

Fund Financial Statements

Statements
Governmental Business-type Fiduciary
Scope Entire entity and The day-to-day The business-type | Instances in which
component units operating activities | activities of the the City
(except fiduciary of the City, such as | City administers
funds) public safety and resources on behalf
public works of others, such as
the employee
pension plans
Required ¢ Statement of Net | ¢ Balance sheet » Statement of Net | e Statement of
financial Position s Statement of Paosition Fiduciary Net
statements s Statement of Revenues, o Statement of Position
Activities Expenditures, Revenues, s Statement of
and Changes in Expenses and Changes in
Fund Balance Changes in Net Fiduciary Net
Position Position
» Statement of
Cash Flows
Accounting Accrual accounting | Modified accrual Accrual accounting | Accrual accounting
basis and and economic accounting and and economic and economic
measurement resources focus current financial resources focus resources focus
focus resources
measurement focus
Type of asset All assets and Current assets and | All assets and All assets and
and liability liabilities, both liabilities that come | liabilities, both liabilities, both
information financial and due during the year | financial and financial and
capital, short-term or soon thereafter; | capital, short-term | capital, short-term
and long-term no capital assets or | and long-term and long-term;
long-term funds do not
labilities included contain capital
agsets, although
they can
Types of inflow | All revenues and Revenues for All revenues and All additions and
and outflow expenses during which cash is expenses during deductions during
information year, regardless of | received during the | year, regardless of | the year, regardless

when cash is
received or pald

year or soon
thereafter;
expenditures when
goods or services
have been received
and the related
liability is due and
payable

when cash is
received or paid

of when cash is
received or paid
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The remainder of this overview explains the structure and contents of the government-wide and
fund financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements

Government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole using
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.

» The Statement of Net Position includes all of the City’s assets and liabilities, except
fiduciary funds, with the difference between the two reported as net position. This
statement serves a purpose similar to that of the balance sheet of a private-sector
business.

s The Statement of Activities focuses on how the City’s net position changed during the
year. Because it separates program revenue (revenue generated by specific programs
through charges for services, grants, and contributions) from general revenue (revenue
provided by taxes and other sources not related to a particular program), it shows to what
¢xtent each program has had to rely on local taxes for funding.

All changes to net position are recorded using the accrual method of accounting, which requires
that revenues are recorded when they are earned and expenses are recorded when the goods
and/or services are received, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Net position is one way to measure the City’s financial position. Over time, increases or
decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether the City’s financial position is
improving or deteriorating. However, other non-financial factors such as changes in the City’s
real property tax base and general economic conditions must be considered to assess the overall
position of the City.

The primary government and its components units are incladed in the government-wide financial
statements. Component units reflect the activities of legally separate government entities over
which the City can exercise influence and/or be obligated to provide financial support. The City
has three discretely presented component units including the Easton Suburban Water Authority,
the Easton Parking Authority, and the Easton Municipal Authority. Two additional component
units, the Easton Redevelopment Authority and the Easton Housing Authority, are not presented
in the financial statements.

There are two categories of activities for the primary government.

¢ Governmental activities include the City’s basic services such as general government,
public safety, community development, public works, health and sanitation, parks and
recreation. Property & earned income taxes and operating grants & revenues finance
most of these activities.

»  Business-type activities generally charge a fee to customers to help cover the cost of
services.

Net position of the governmental activities differ from the governmental fund balances because
governmental fund level statements only report transactions using or providing current financial
resources. Capital assets are reported as expenditures when financial resources (monies) are
extended to purchase or build assets in the fund financial statements. Likewise, the financial
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resources that may have been borrowed are considered revenue when they are received in the
fund financial statements. Principal and interest payments are both considered expenditures when
paid in the fund financial statements. Depreciation is not calculated as it does not provide or
reduce current financial resources in the fund financial statements.

Government-wide statements are reported using an economic resources measurement focus and
full accrual basis of accounting that involves the following steps to format the Statement of Net
Position:

e (Capitalize current outlays for capital assets
¢ Report long-term debt as a liability
e Depreciate capital assets and allocated the depreciation to the proper program/activities

¢ Calculate revenue and expense using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting

s  Allocate net position balances as follows:
o Net investment in capital assets

o Restricted net position are those net assets with constraints placed on their use by
external sources (creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
governments) or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation

o Unrestricted net position are net assets that do not meet any of the above
restrictions.

Fund financial statements

Fund financial statements provide more detailed information on the City’s most significant funds,
not the City as a whole. Funds are accounting devices, i.e., a group of related accounts that the
City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for particular purposes. Some
funds are required by state law. Other funds are established to control and manage resources
designated for specific purposes. Governmental fund financial statements are reported using
current financial resources and modified accrual accounting established by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) for governments.

The City has three kinds of funds:

e  Governmental funds include most of the City’s basic services and focus on: (1) the flow
in and out of cash and other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash and (2)
the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. The twenty governmental
funds that the City maintains are reported using the modified accrual accounting basis,
and a current financial resources measurement focus. Consequently, the governmental
funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps determine the financial
resources available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. The primary
governmental funds are General, Debt Service, Liquid Fuels, Capital & Bond, and State
Grants.
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The relationship between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net
Position and the Statement of Activities} and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that follows the governmental fund financial statements.

Proprietary funds report business-type programs and activities that charge fees designed
to cover the cost of providing services. They report using the full accrual basis of
accounting,

Fiduciary funds are funds for which the City is the trustee or fiduciary. The City is
responsible to ensure the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended
purposes. This fiduciary activity is reported in a separate statement of fiduciary net assets
and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. These funds are excluded from the
City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to
finance its operations.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City’s total assets and deferred outflow of resources were $71.62 million at December 31,
2016. Of this amount, $49.9 million was capital assets, including infrastructure and construction
in progress. Prior to the adoption of GASB No. 34 in 2003, infrastructure (roads, bridges, etc.)
had not been reported or depreciated in governmental financial statements.

GASB No. 34 required that all capital assets, including infrastructure, be valued and reported
within the governmental activities column of the govemment-wide financial statements, but
allowed infrastructure to be added over several years. The City believes it has included all
infrastructure in the 2016 financial statements.
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Table A-2: Condensed Statement of Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016

Current Assets $16,375,.826  $16,735,543 $658,469 $683,345  $17,034,295  $17,418,888
Capital assets, net 49,436,606 49,947,239 ; - 49436,606 49,947,239
Other non-current
assets " - - - - -
Deferred Outflow 5,159,226 4,257,934 - - 5,159,226 4,257,934
of Resources
Total Assets/ 70,971,658 70,940,716 658,469 683,345 71,630,127 71,624,061
Deferred Qutflows
Current and other 4182454 7325013 612714 0 4,795,168 7,962,603
liabilities
Non-current 92301,166 86,625,081 - - 92,301,166 86,625,081
liabilities
Deferred Inflow of 928,654 715,069 ] - 928,654 715,069
Resources
Total
Liabilities/Deferred 97,412,274 94,665,163 612,714 637590  98,024.988 95,302,753
Inflows
Net position: Net
Invesiment in
capital assets 14,033,893 17,094,104 : . 14933893 17,094,104
iiittr;md net 3,847,577 3,906,487 - - 3,847,577 3.906:487
E;;Zgzm"md net (45.222,086)  (44,725,038) 45,755 45,755 (45,176331)  (44,679,283)
Total net position (26440,616)  (23,724.447) 45,755 45,755 (26,394,861) (23,678,692)
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Table A-3: Changes in net position

The following statement of activities represents changes in net assets for the year ended
December 31, 2016. It shows revenues by source and expenses by function for governmental

activities, business-type activities and the government as a whole.

Governmental Activities

Business-type Activities Total

2015 2016 20135 2016 2013 2016
Program revenues:
Charges for services  $14,104,301 $15,067,882 $5,116,901 $5,095,832 $19,221,202  $20,163.,714
Operating grants R
and contributions 4,791,571 5,454,769 79,241 82,384 4,870,812 5,537,153
Capital grants 633,182 2,296,351 - - 6,33,182 2,296,351
General revenues:
Taxes 18,504,255 18,636,471 - - 18,504,255 18,636,471
Interest earnings 44,568 25,047 - - 44,568 25,047
Misc. revenues 304,806 422 312 - - 304,806 422312
Total 38,582,683 41,902,832 5,196,142 5,178,216 43,600,528 47,081,048
revenues
Expenses:
General government 7,285,094 8,060,433 - - 7,285,094 8,060,433
Public safety 17,643,615 18,872,987 - - 17,643,615 18,872,987
Health & Welfare 119,580 116,832 - - 119,580 116,832
DPW — Sanitation 4,749,161 4,965,228 - - 4,749,161 4,965,228
DPW — Highways 2,196,626 2,553,714 - - 2,196,626 2,553,714
Other Public Works 764,154 470,954 - - 764,154 470,954
Culture - Recreation 1,494,447 2,119,925 - - 1,494,447 2,119,923
Community 2,326,366 1,710,803 . . 2326366 1,710,803
Development
Debt Service 1,924,495 1,954,749 - - 1,924,495 1,954,749
Sewage Treatment - - 5,001,110 5,005,583 5,001,110 5,005,583
Total 38,503,538 40,825,625 5,001,110 5,005,583 43,504,648 43,831,208
expenses
Change in net
position before
pransfors/spesial (120,855) 1,077,207 195,032 172,633 74177 1,249,840
Transfers 195,032 172,633 (195,032) (172,633) - -
Sale of Assets 21,703 1,446 - - 21,703 1,446
Capital State Grants
for Capital Value 3,411,214 1,464,883 - - 341214 1,464,883
Increase
Change in 3,507,094 2,716,169 . - 3507004 2,716,169
net position
Net position, 18,760,757 (26,440,616) 45,755 45,755 18,806,512  (26,394,861)
beginning
Prior Period
Adjustment (48,708,467) - - - (48,708,467} -
I:ne(;iggsmon’ (26,440,616) (23,724,447) 45,735 45,755 (26,394,861) (23,678,692)

Total government-wide revenues of $48.5 million came primarily from taxes, charges for services
and grants of $46.6 million representing 96% of the total.

10
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Total expenses for all programs in 2016 were $40.8 million. The expenses cover a range of
services, with the largest two being public safety at $18.9 million or 46% and general government
at $8.06 million or 20%.

Capital Assets

The City’s investment in capital assets at December 31, 2016, net of accumulated depreciation,
was $49.9 million. Capital assets consist primarily of land, site improvements, buildings and
improvements, machinery & equipment, infrastructure, water treatment plant, and construction in
progress. Table A-4 is a summary of capital assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2016.

Table A-4: Capital assets at December 31, 2015 and 2016

Governmental Activities

2015 2016
Land (Not Depreciated) ' $7,672,373 $7,672,373
Site Improvements 194,992 183,727
Buildings & Improvements 30,763,464 31,102,013
Machinery & Equipment 3,133,995 2,973,118
Infrastructure 985,683 1,741,716
Water Treatment Plant 6,686,099 6,274,292
Total Capital Assets
(net of depreciation) 49,436,606 49,947,239

The change in capital assets was significant between 2015 and 2016. Most of that change is
related to the buildings and improvements of the new Easton City Hall and Transportation Center
placed into operation during the year 2016 and major costs including design related to the
sanitation and road systems.

Long-term Debt

At December 31, 2016, the City had $50.90 million of debt outstanding, including bonds, notes,
and master lease purchase agreements. This was a net decrease of $2.4 million from the previous
year. Other obligations include post-employment benefits, accrued vacation pay and sick leave
and the net pension liability. Total other obligations were $41.87 million at December 31, 2015
and $41.62 million at December 31, 2016,

Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in the disclosures to the
financial statements on page 47.

11
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Table A-5: Summary of outstanding debt

Governmental Activities

2015 2016
Pension Debt Obligations
Bond Series of 2007 $10,484,000 $9,729,000
Bond Series A of 2015 8,325,000 8,320,000
Capital Debt Obligations
Bond Series of 2011 6,045,000 4,885,000
Note Series of 2015 (Lafayette Ambassador
Bank) 2,459,337 2,837,727
Taxable Note of 2014 594,990 524,435
Bond Series of 2013 16,915,000 16,500,000
Series B of 2015 765,000 685,000
Series C of 2015 3,925,000 3,855,000
Other Debt Obligations
Master Lease Purchase Agreement 2009 611,724 534,628
EMA Note Series of 2014 Quakertown
National Bank 2,710,060 2,191,000
Lease Purchase Agreement 2015 Fulton Bank 311,220 245,000
Lease Purchase Agreement 2015 TCF 165,442 100,714
Lease Purchase Agreement 2016 TCF - 94,631
Total Qutstanding Debt $53,311,713 $50,902.135
Bond Rating

As a part of the 2017 GO Bond Issue, the City of Easton had its credit rating reviewed by S&P
Rating Services, Citing continued strong financial management practices, Easton’s credit rating is

A+,

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The City of Easton uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-

related legal requirements.

The focus of government funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements, In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the year. Governmental fund accounting was
not affected by the adoption of GASB No. 34. Therefore, a schedule is presented to reconcile the

fund statements to the government-wide statements.

The City’s governmental funds include the general fund, debt service fund, capital and bond
funds, state grants fund, and other governmental (minor) funds. The general fund is the chief
operating fund for the City. The debt service fund is used to record the funding and payment of
principal and interest on the issuance of debt in the governmental funds. The capital projects
funds account for the proceeds of bond issues, note issues, and extraordinary revenue used to
fund short-term capital needs. The major funds are shown on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance in the financial statements.

12
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Governmental fund revenues

Governmental fund revenues by source for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016 were as
follows. Table A-6 also presents changes from 2015 to 2016.

Table A-6: Revenues by scurce, governmental funds

Changes from Percent
2013 2016 2015 t0 2016 change

Revenues:

Taxes $18,251,782 $18,641,150 $389,368 2.13
Licenses 397,617 491,510 93,893 23.61
Fines & Forfeits 845,950 1,055,839 209,889 24 .81
Interest & Rents 1,652,393 1,662,724 10,331 62
Intergovernmental 8,835,967 9,216,003 380,036 4.30
Charges for Services 11,345,154 11,937,244 592,090 5.22
Miscellaneous 304,806 422312 117,506 38.55

Total revenues $41,633,669 $43,426,782 1,793,113

Governmental fund revenues totaled $43.43 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This
is an increase from 2015, primarily due to moderate increases in taxes, intergovernmental and

charges for services.

Governmental fund expenditures

Governmental fund expenditures by function for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016

were as follows. Table A-7 also presents changes from 2015 to 2016.

Table A-7: Expenditures by function, governmental funds

Changes from Percent
2015 2016 201502016  change

Expenses:
General Government $19,888,152 $8,341,433 (11,546,719  (58.06)
Public Safety 17,479,819 18,383,872 904,053 5.17
Health & Welfare 119,580 116,832 (2,748) (2.30)
DPW - Sanitation 4,720,444 5,400,161 679,717 14.40
DPW — Roads 2,125,898 2,872,675 746,777 35.12
DPW — Other 713,592 408,044 (305,548)  (42.81)
Culture — Recreation 1,331,488 1,918,246 586,758 44.07
Urban Development 2,328,186 1,714,501 (613,685 (26.36)
Debt Service 4,447 903 4,898,305 450,402 10.13

Total expenses 53,155,062 44,054,069 {9,100,993)

Governmental fund expenditures totaled $44.05 million for the year ended December 31, 2016,
an decrease of 17.12% from 2015. The decrease in 2016 expenditures is largely explained by the
decrease capital costs incurred with the construction of the new Easton City Hall and

Transportation Center and the Bushkill Corridor Project during the year 2015. Significant

improvement costs were incurred during 2016 for sanitation, roads and recreation systems.
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City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Governmental fund balances

Table A-8 reflects ending balances for governmental fands and net assets for proprietary funds at
December 31, 2016 and 2015,

Table A-8: Ending fund balances, governmental funds
Net assets, enterprise funds

2015 2016
Governmental Enterprise Governmental Enterprise
funds funds funds funds
General $4,537,251 - $5,287,128 -
Debt Service 136,930 - 119,375 -
Capital & Bond 2,981,148 - 392,028 -
State Grants 1,409,545 - 2,505,824 -
Other Governmental 522,324 - 829,635 -
Health - $24,714 - $171,830
Insurance - 972,612 - 1,135,986
Unemployment - 53,405 - 73,840
Sewer - 45,755 - 45,755
Total $9,587,198 $1,096,486 $9,133,990 $1,427.411

The City’s governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $9.13 million at December
31, 2016. The City’s proprietary funds reported a combined fund balance of $1.43 million at
December 31, 2016.

In 2016, $5.29 million (or 57.88%) of all governmental fund balances was recorded as
unassigned. The balance sheet for government funds provides a breakdown for all fund balances
as required by GASB 54.

Budgetary highlights

The Easton City Council approves the operating budgets for the general fund and several other
funds as required by City Charter and City ordinance. According to City charter, the expense
budget may be changed in one of two ways. First, the budget may be changed via administrative
transfer between specific line items from other line items or from contingency funds established
in the budget. Second, new appropriations are budgeted when received (via City ordinance) and
the anticipated related expense is budgeted at the same time.

Because the City is on a different fiscal year than the Commonwealth and the Federal
government, it is difficuli to know what grants will be forthcoming in the City’s fiscal year. Some
revenue variances are due to budgeting for grants not received. Other revenue variances are based
on grants received but not anticipated. Otherwise, actual results were relatively close to budget
amounts, which is consistent with the City’s current conservative budgeting philosophy.
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City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Collective Bargaining Issues

During the course of 2016, multi-year agreements remained in place with all three labor
unions: Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) Lodge 17, International Association of Fire Fighters
(IAFF) Local 713, and American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees Local
447. The FOP Lodge 17 contract ends on December 31, 2017, The contract with IAFF Local
713 was renegotiated in 2012; the new contract ended on December 31, 2016. The contract
with AFSCME Local 447 was also renegotiated in 2012; the new contract ends on December
31,2017.

Economic Condition and Outlook

The vision of Easton's future growth and prosperity is built upon its proud history as a
cultural, commercial, industrial, and transportation hub. Easton is now poised as a destination
for tourists, artists, investors, residents and retail, restaurant, and service businesses. With over
27,000 residents within a region of 540,000, Easton is a full service working community that
maintains industrial areas with light manufacturing, distribution and warehousing, a vibrant
downtown, and residential neighborhoods.

Home to the Crayola Experience, National Canal Museum, Northampton County Historical
and Genealogical Museum, and the State Theatre, Easton welcomes over 500,000 visitors
annually. Easton offers superior accessibility, enticing small-town ambiance, the prestigious
Lafayette College, and diverse culture and historic atiractions. Businesses affiliated with the
arts will find Easton in the midst of resurgence in the fine, industrial and creative arts. An
active and growing artist community is complemented by galleries displaying nationally
known as well as local artists' work, Much of the revitalization of Easton's Downtown can be
attributed to the success of the many festivals and events that are supported by the City and
the Greater Easton Development Authority. The combination of these events and diverse
restaurant scene has created a welcoming environment into evenings during the week and
weekends.

The City of Easton has invested significant dollars in public funding to spur economic growth
and activity from the private sector. These public dollars ($70M) has leveraged over $500M
of private sector investment and stimulus to the City. While the private sector has done a
significant amount of investing, the public sector wants to continue to support the City’s
growth and to that end has recently committed to the development of a $120M science center
and aquarium. Adding this to the Crayola Experience and other unique outdoor and family
based attractions, Easton is becoming the playground for not only the residents of Easton, but
the broader Lehigh Valley and New Jersey.

Requests for Information

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
financial information and complete financial statements for the discretely presented
component units should be addressed to the City Administrator, City of Easton, 123 South
Third Street, Easton, Pennsylvania, 18042.
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Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivafents
Investmenis
Taxes Receivable (net)
Due From Other Governments
Other Receivables
Prepaid Items
Inventory
Other Assets
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets;
Lease Agreement ngt of amortization
Capital Assets not being depreciated:
Land, Easements
Capital Assets net of accumulated depreciation;
Site Improvements
Buildings and Building Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Infrastructure
Water Treatment Plant
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Ouiflow of Resources:
Current Year Contributions PMRS
Difference between Projected and Actual
Investment Earnings on Pension Plan

Difference between Expected and Actual
Experience Pensions

Change in Assumptions

Deferred Charges on Refundings

Total Assets and Deferred Cutflow of Resources

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable

Payroll Withheldings

Intemnal Balances

Cunrent Portion of Debt
Accrued Salaries and Benefits
Other Current Liabilities
Accrued Interest Payable

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Curreni Liabilities:

Bonds Payable

Capital Leases

Compensated Absences

Other Posi-Employment Benefits

Met Pension Liability
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflow of Resources:

Difference between Expecied and Actual
Experience Pensions
Total Ligbilities and Deferred Inflow of Resources

Net Position;

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for Acquisition of Capital Assets
Restricted for Insurance
Unrestricted (Deficit)

Total Net Positien

Total Liabilities, Defersed [nflow of Resources
and Net Position

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statcment.

CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2016

Primary Govermnment

Govemnmental Business-Type Componen
Activities Activities Total Units

5 6597517 3 26,333 3 6,623,850 b3 4,118,105

- - - 1,224,983
3,075,454 - 3,075,454 -
3,738,355 657,012 4,387,367 -
3,042,823 - 3,042,823 -

- - - 2,930,811

- - - 51,094

289,394 - 289,394 736,282

16,735,543 £83,313 17,418,888 $,060,575

- - - 600,000

7,672,373 - 7,672,373 498,075
183,727 - 183,727 -

31,102,013 - 31,102,013 2,936,898

2,973,118 - 2,973,118 1,955,037

1,741,716 - 1,741,716 79,329,273

6,274,292 - 6,274,292 17,337,503

49,947,239 - 49,947,239 102,656,786

$ 66682782 3 683,345 $ 67,366,§27 $ 111,717 361
391,111 - 391,711 -
2,936,292 - 2,936,292 -
492,141 - 492 141 -
121,456 - 121,456 -
316,334 - 316,334 -

$ 70,940,716 $ 683,345 $ 71,624,061 $ 111,717,361

§ 1060817 3 145,748 $ 1,206,565 3 882,713
47,595 - 47,993 -
(349,861) 349,361 - -

5,898,120 133,010 6,031,130 1,972,420

56,641 2,905 59,546 147.817

405,537 6,066 411,603 280,970

205,764 - 205,764 70,383

7,325,013 637,590 7,862,603 3,354,303

42,631,563 - 42,631,563 31,297,814
2,372,452 - 2,372,452 -
2,141,778 - 2,141,778 -
6,781,824 - 6,781,824 -
32,697,464 - 32,697,464 -

86,625,081 - 86,623,081 31,297,814

93,950,094 637,590 94,587,684 34,652,117
715,069 - 715,069 -

$ 94,665,163 % 637,590 95,302,753 3 34,652,117

17,054,104 - 17,094,104 69,318,002
2,524,831 - 2,524,831 -
1,381,656 - 1,381,656 -

{44,725,038) 45,755 (44,679,283) 7,747,242

(23,724 447) 45,755 (23,678,692) 77,065,244

$ 70,940,716 3 683,345 £ 71,624.061 5 111,717,301

16



L1

TuaENEIS STy Jo Wed RISsIul uk AIE SIUAUINLIS [RISUBUL] 1) 01 $AJ0U 3 |,

P60 Ll § (Z69°8L9°€T) § SSL'Sh & (LpFrILED) §
E60°EITEL §  (198%6E9T) § SSLSY §  (9190¥K'97) §
TF IV - - -
(££5°%9¢9) - - -
CIE'CLTE §  69191LT 8 - $  6919ILT  §
£E6'TI 6510550 (££9°TL1) 6L TTLOT
- €88 Fot| - £9379F°1
- Tie'TTy - TIE Ty
- 9’1 - o'l
- - (ge9'zLn) £E9TLT
£E6°C1 LH0'ST - LFO'ST
- $ LLY959°8T § - $  1LF9t98T  §
08£29Z¢  § - $ - $ - 3 - $ - $  ETEOETLT §  CPSHLEET  $
- $  (066°EE8°LI) $ €E9°TLT & (£29°900°81) § 169677 $ ECILESS & PILESTOT $  {80T°1E8'SH) §
- CETLY ££9°TLI - - ¥3€°78 7E8°S60°C (£35°500°8) ¢
- $  (£79900°81) $ - $  (£29900°81) § 166962 § 69LYSHS & TRELO0CT § (sTosTsOr) §
- (BPLPS6T) - (6PLFS6°T) - - - (6VLPSET)
- (9217186} - (9T1°186) 966669 199°62 - (c08'01L°T)
- (coTL1F'T) - (E0T'LIF 1} 000°05¥ L¥OOL $L9°T81 (sT6'611°T)
- 165°€8S - 165°€8S - - SPSPCO’l (6 0Ly)
- (TSI - (6£2°STE°T) 100°990°1 PLYTLE - (#12°€55°0)
- LPLTOS Y - LEL TS 0F399 F61°65E 1$6°0¥0°6 (32Z'$96'1)
- (r59°6€) - (r59°65) - - 8LILL (zegot)
- {996°65¥°51) - (996°65t°S 1) FICET $99°6Z6 TYRELYT (L86°TL881)
- $  GTovyTi'n) % - §  (poover 8 - $ 80L°L69E  § ToLecTT § 0 (EEr0oos) ¢
spUn el SANIARDY SOMANDY SUONRQINUOD suonngLIueD) SANIAIG sasuadxy
uouoduo)) 2d41-ssomsng [BIUSIILISACL) pue pue SIRID 10} sedIer)
seerny ferden Juneradp

VOIS0, JaN Ul S95URY) PuB aNUIAY/(ASUDEXH) 3N

SANUIAYY WRISOI]

NOISVY 0 ALD

— e

10T T¢ dIgWEDHT JIANE dvVHA HHL 404
SHILIALLDV 40 INHWH1VLS

Suipug - uomsod 1°N
FuuuiSag - uonisod 19N

siadopaas(] Aq popraord anjep fende)
[endey sadojeangy uoneroadag
UONISO 1N 11 saguey))

SaNUIATY [RIDUAD) [B10],
senea [endeo pasesiour o) pandde
SJUBID 91EI§ pue 00T [EHde)
SNOUR[ISIN
51355V JO 2eS
SI3JSUBL], pUNgIU]
SBuIIRT 1SAINUT PIILISIII[)
saxe], 10 pue Aadorg
SBNUIAYY [eiatan

Sunred pue 1B M
SITUT] THAUGUIo, )

HISWUIA0L) ATRWILL] [B10],
suonerad() el Jusueal] aSemag
SHTITATIZY SdA ] -Ssauisng

SOBIANOY [BIUDWUTIAOD [E10],
B01AIS 193]
Juatrdojasa] Alunwue))
uonEIIeY ~ 3NN
B0 - SPOM 1G]
sAeAYFILT - SYIOM J1[qnJ
uonEluES - SHHOM ONqRJ
QIBJ[PAM PUB R{EIH
Aajeg orgngd
JUBLLILLIIAOL) [BI3UIL)

SONTANDY [EIUSWIIdAGE




‘pRwatess sig Jo Hed paSaur U 218 SJUSWSRIS [RIOURLY St} O $H0U Y,

81
£99°LFTET  § 15.°986 g TESEeSy 8 9.8°6vEs  § [ETEETT & SLEGTT $ 861°GE1°01 § Seoupleg pung pue sanifiqer] [E}0],
066°€E1°6 $£9°678 1Z0°ELE 870°76¢ CO8°TET'T SLEGIT STI°LYTS saouRIeRE] PUM.] [B10L
$TI°L8T°C - - - - - $TILRTC pauBsseu)

- - - - - - - paudissy
1€0°22E°1 $E9°6¢8 [20°CLE - - SLEBLIL - panIIwo)
1£89T5°T - - 8TOT6E £08°ZEL'T - - paleLnsay]

- - - - - - - a{qepuadg-uon

“mmuc.m_&m ﬁﬂ:m
£LOCITFI 9LI°LST LIS 0ST 8PS LEE T4 - 0L0°SHS'Y §20IROSAY JO MOTFUL
pauiayag] pue senIfIqer [BI0L
68T 19L - - - - - 6877194 sgurrg Ammn
TSL'66E T - - - - - TSL66E1 soxe] Auadosg
- ANUIANY I[qR[IZABUL]
$22IN053Y JO BOGHQ PALIATX]
TE9°TS6'TT OLL°LST LIS 08TV 8PS LS Y 8zt - 6Z0°L89°C SOIqRI] [el0],
LTLLEST - - LTLLERT - - - SOMIqRIT WA -SuvT Y0
LES'SOF 6bS$°TI 98,121 - - - T0T1LT SSUFIGRIT WAL SO
1+9°9¢ LT9°01 - - - - F10°9% SIoUSE PUB SOUR[ES PINIDDY
C66°LY - - - - - S66°LY sBuIproyuR M [[oakeg
FILE0b $90°1 £E1°L81 098°cS 81v - 3£9°091 2[qeded SHMODIY
819°10T°8 $ SL8TEl $ 65 1P8C  § 196690°C 8 01 $ - g 081°191°T % spun,{ Ja() 03 angg
SeTIer ]
S30IA0SY JO MOTJU] PRLISIa(] pUe SOTIqer]
OO°LFTET § 154986 $ es'Eesy  § 9.5°6FE'S  § 1€2°¢€1'c § CLEBIT 3 861°CE1°01 § 51085V [B10],
HO'61L9 0£9°001 TH0 0671 8ETHSET 6 LOL01 SEF$90°C spun,] JoIQ woly 2n(]
$6E°687 0£6°68T - - - - yor'c §1988Y SO
CTRTHOE - - - - _ - XA AL IRS SR1qBAIS03Y OYI()
SCEOELE - L86°SSLT 6SEVPE - - 6TT0L9 $9[qeATRIy [PlusuILRAoTIaYU]
PEFCLOE - - - - - FSFSLOE S[QRAIIIYY SBXE],
965°06£°0 s 161°009 $ €ECLLT $ 661°150°T § TITEELT  § 899°01 $ ERLLIET  § stustRAInby YsE)) pue yse)
51985y
spunyg spung spun,] Spung puog punj pung puny [RIIUID)
[BTUSEULLIDACLD) J2IUOLIUIDAON) e rolejy pue eirde) sjang pinbry OIAIRS 12T

mejo. 12410

910T 1€ dIdNIDHd
SANNA TYINFANIIAQD - LHHHS JONVTVH
NOLSVH 40 ALID




CITY OF EASTON
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2016

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position (page 16} are different because:
Total fund balances - governmental funds (page 18) $ 9,133,990

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are
not reported as assets in governmental funds. The cost of the assets is $77,403,035 and the
accumulated depreciation is $27,455,796. 49,047,239

Property taxes, utility charges, and earned income taxes receivable will be collected this
year, but are not available soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds. 2,161,041

Internal Service Funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as imsurance.
The net position has been included in governmental activities. 1,381,656

This represenis deferred Outflow of Resources resulting in deferred charges on refunding
bond issues. 316,334

Deferred Outflow of Resources related to pensions are applicable to future periods
therefore are not reported in the funds.

Current year pension contributions to PMRS 391,711
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings on

Pension Plan Investments 2,936,292
Difference between expected and actual experience 492,141
Change in Assumptions 121,456

Deferred Inflow of Resources related to pensions and debt are applicable to future periods,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. i
Difference between expected and actual experience (715,069}

Liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the governmental funds. Those liabilities at year-
end consist of:

Lease, Pension, Capital Debt Principal Payable (50,902,135)

Capital Debt presented within Capital Projects Fund 2,837,727

Accrued Interest Expense ' {205,764)

Compensated Absences (2,141,778)

Post Employment Benefits (6,781,824)

Net Pension Liability (32,697.464) (89,891,238)
Total Net Position - Governmental Activities $ (23,724,447)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 19
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CITY OF EASTON
RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT QF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities (page 17) are different because:
Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds {page 20) §  (453,208)

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expenses. This is the amount by which depreciation expense ($1,665,126) is less
than capital outlays $2,175,759 in the period. 510,633

Repayment of current bond and lease principal are expenditures in the governmentat funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term labilities in the Statement of Net Position. 2,931,976

Refunding bond issues becotnes a use of current financial resources in governmental funds, but
refundings represent payments of long-term debt in the statement of net position. This figure
represents the annual amortization of the difference between refunding bond proceeds and the
refunding payments made to paying agents. (24,333

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds,
however has no effect on increasing Net Position, (144,008)

The net effect of changes in pension deferred outflows, deferred inflows and net liability
utilized in the determination of pension expense reported on governmental activities column of
government-wide financial statements to pension contributions reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. 145,601

Because some property taxes, utility charges, and earned income taxes will not be collected for
several months after the City's year end, they are not considered "available revenues" and are
deferred in the governmental funds. Deferred tax revenues and utility charges decreased by
this amount this year. {59,067}

In the statement of activities, certain operating expenses (compensated absences) are measured
by the amounts carned during the vear. In the governmental funds, however, expenditures for
these items are measured by the amount of financial resources used {(essentially the amounts
actually paid). Vacation and sick leave earned increased by this amount this year. (4,653)

In the statement of activities, certain operating expenses {other post-employment benefits) are
measured by the amounts earned during the year. In the governmental funds, however,
expenditures for these items are measured by the amount of financial resources used
{essentially the amounts actually paid). Other post-employment benefits increased by this
amount this year. (553,610

Interest on fong-term debt in the statement of activities differs from the amount reported in the
governmental funds because interest is recognized as an expenditure in the funds when it is
due and, therefore, requires the use of current financial resources. In the statement of
activities, however, interest expenses is recognized as the interest accrues, regardless of when
it is due. Accrued interest payable on bonds increased by this amount this year, 35,513

Internal Service Funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance. The
increase in net position has been allocated within governmental activities. 330,925

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 2,716,169

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2016

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from Governmental Entities
Participant Contributions
Cash Received {from Funds Allocations
Payments for Sewage Treatment Operations
Payments for Insurance and Claims

Net Cash Provided by {Used for) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Refunds of Prior Year Expenditures
Other Revenues (Expenses)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Non-Capital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest on Cash Equivalents

Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities:

Operating Incorne
Adjustments to Operating Income to Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities:
{Increase) Decrease Accounts Receivables
(Increase) Decrease Intergovernmental Receivables
(Increase) Decrease Prepaid Items
Increase (Decrease) Current Liabilities
Total Adjustments

Net Cash Provided by/(Used for) Operating Activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement,

Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities
Enterprise Fund
Sewage Treatment Internal Service
Fund Funds
$ 4,792,235 $ -
- 671,595
- 3,737,221
(4,980,707) -
- (4,581 ,430)
(188,472) (172,614)
- 21,552
(172,633) (8,565)
(172,633) 12,987
- 113
(361,105) (159,514)
387,438 366,435
3 26,333 3 206,921
3 172,633 $ 317,825
(385,981) (936,127)
24,876 465,688
(361,105) (490,439)
b (188,472) 3 (172,614)

24



Agsets

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments at Fair Value:
Fixed Income Securities
Corporate Stocks
Mutual Funds
Real Estate Fund
Accrued Interest Receivable

Total Assets
Liabilities
Escrow Payable
Accounts Payable

Loan Payable

Total Liabilities

Net Position

CITY OF EASTON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

Net Position in Trust for Pension Benefits and

and Other Purposes

Aggregated Private-Purpose
Pension Fund Trust Fund Agency Fund
3 868,510 i 151,846 $ 6,250
11,930,386 - -
9,906,779 - .
21,117,164 2,671,525 -
1,074,534
104,056 - -
§ 45,001,429 3 2,823,371 3 6,250
3 - $ - by 6,250
3,376 - -
- 660,484 -
3,376 660,484 6,250
$ 44998033 $ 2,162,887

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Additions
Contributions:
Employer
Plan Members
Other Sources
Total Contributions

Investment Earnings:

Interest and Dividends
Net Increase in Fair Value of Investments

Total Investment Earnings
Less: Investment Expense
Net Investment Earnings
Total Net Additions
Deductions
Benefits and Other Distributions
Administrative Expenses
Contribution Refund
Loan Interest Expense
Intergovernmental Transfer to City of Easton Grant Fund
Total Deductions
Changes in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning

Recognition of Trust Fund Loan Principal Balance

Net Position - Ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Aggregated

Private-Purpose

Pension Fund Trust Fund
$ 4447508 $ .
506.561 ]
121,320 -
5.075.389 .
1,194,874 115,110
2,837.392 73,830
4,032,266 188,940
(185,043) (10,125)
3847218 178,815
8,922 607 178,815
4153003 ]
48204 162,781
8734 )
; 22,959
; 450,000
4,809,943 635,740
4.112,664 (456,925)
10,885,389 3,102,060
; (482.248)
$ 44,998,053 § 2,162,887
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CITY OF EASTON

GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT QF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Revenues;

Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeits
Interest and Rents
Intergovernmentat
Charges for Service
Miscellaneous

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
General Government

Public Safety

Health and Welfare

Public Works - Sanitation

Public Works - Roads

Public Works - Other

Urban Development
Total Expenditures

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures

Other Financing Sources {Uses)

Transfers In
Transfers (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - Beginning

Fund Balance - Ending

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with
Final Budget
Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
$ 14,620,633 $ 14,620,633 $ 14,635,606 $ 14,973
396,000 396,000 491,510 95,510
852,800 892,800 1,055,839 163,039
1,633,620 1,633,620 1,650,047 16,427
4,384,211 4,384,211 4,921,447 337,236
11,993,950 11,993,950 11,604,869 (389,081)
239,080 240,580 288,561 47,981
34,160,294 34,161,794 34,647,879 486,085
6,555,112 6,642,132 6,414,750 227,382
18,272,680 18,318,389 18,170,415 147,974
122,294 119,380 116,832 2,348
4,980,135 5,015,996 4,906,025 109,971
1,760,741 1,692,646 1,690,466 2,180
330,402 327,872 324,944 2,928
691,249 696,198 694,208 1,990
32,712,613 32,812,613 32,317,640 494 973
1,447,681 1,349,181 2,330,239 981,058
- - 92,319 92,319
(1,672,681) (1,672,681) (1,672,681) -
(1,672,681) (1,672,681) {1,580,362) 92,319
{225,000) (323,300) 749,877 1,073,377
4,537,251 4,537,251 4,537,251 -
$ 4,312,251 $ 4,213,751 $ 5,287,128 $ 1,073,377

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON
DEBT SERVICE FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES TN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2016

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with

Final Budget
Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - Allocated from Levy $  2,954.767 $ 2,954,767 $ 2,954,767 3 -
Total Revenues 2,954,767 2,954,767 2,954,767 -
Expenditures:
Debt Service Principal 2,817,569 2,817,871 2,817,871 -
Debt Service Interest 2,058,681 2,075,405 2,075,434 (29)
Fiscal Agent Fees 4,500 4,500 5,000 (500)
Total Expenditures 4,880,750 4,897,776 4,898,303 {529}
(Deficiency) of Revenues over
Expenditures (1,925,983) (1,943,009) (1,943,538) (529)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 1,925,983 1,925,983 1,925,983 -
Transfers Out ~ - - -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,925,983 1,925,983 1,925,983 -
Net Change in Fund Balance - (17.026) (17,555) (529)
Fund Balance - Beginning 136,930 136,930 136,930 -
Fund Balance - Ending § 136,930 $§ 119,904 $ 119,375 3 {529)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON

RECREATION FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAIL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Revenues;
Taxes - Allocated from Levy
Recreational Charges
Hugh Moore Park

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Parks

Recreation
Hugh Moore Park

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over
Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (1/ses)
Transfers In
Transfers Out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance - Beginning

Fund Balance - Ending

Budgeted Amounts
Vartance with
Final Budget
Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
$ 1,050,777 $ 1,050,777 $ 1,050,777 $ -
159,559 178,424 - 163,786 {12,638)
121,959 121,959 122,228 269 .
1,332,295 1,351,160 1,338,791 (12,369)
690,484 683,017 684,549 {1,532)
328,110 349,695 330,938 18,737
233,032 237,779 237,358 421
1,251,626 1,270,491 1,252,865 17,626
80,669 80,669 85,926 5,257
(80,669) (80,669) (80,669) -
(80,669) (80,669) (80,669) -
- - 5,257 5,257
147,113 147,113 147,113 -
3 147,113 147113 3 152,370 ¥ 5,257

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Easton is a primary governmental entity whose operational procedures are defined by Third Class
City Code cnacted by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The City functions as council members and mayor
chosen in a general election, and is considered to be fiscally independent.

The financial statements of City of Easton (the City) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepied
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the authoritative standard-setting body for the establishment of governmental accounting and financial
reparting principles.

Reporting Entity

The reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations that are
included to insure that the financial statements of the City are not misleading. The primary government consists of
all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not legally separate from the City. For the City of Easton this
includes general operations, public safety, highways, public works, and recreational activities.

The City of Easton is a municipal corporation governed by an elected seven member City Council. As required
by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements are for the City of Easton (primary
government) and organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable. The City is financially
accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing board and (1}
the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or provided by the organization; or (2}
the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization's resources; the City is legally obligated or
has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization;
or the City is obligated for the debt of the organization. Component units may also include organizations that are
financially dependent on the City in that the City approves the budget, the issuance of debt, or the levying of taxes.

Following is a brief description of each component unit meeting the above criteria and as a result included within
the financial reporting entity, a description of each component unit’s relationship with the City of Faston, and a

discussion of how component unit information has been incorporated into the financial statements:

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Easton Suburban Water Authority - The Authority is responsible for providing water service to surrounding
municipalities and contributing to the funding for the construction of the water treatment plant. All of the voting
members of the Authority are appointed by the City of Easton. Authority assets leased under the January 1, 2007
Operating Agreement would be transferable to the City upon termination of the Agreement on January 1, 2032. The
condensed financial information presented utilizes the “Government-Wide” Financial Statement presentation as it
pertains to a single proprietary operation entity for the year ended December 31, 2016 and is presented as a discrete
component unit.

Easton Parking Authority - Al voting members of the Board are appointed by the City of Easton. The City s in
some manner obligated to provide financial support of the Authority. The condensed financial information
presented utilizes the “Government-Wide” Financial Statement presentation as it pertains to a single proprietary
operation entity for the year ended December 31, 2016 and is presented as a discrete component unit.

Housing Authority of the City of Easton - The Authority was created by a resolution of the City of Easton. It
was organized as a public housing Authority as defined by the Commmonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Authority’s
Board of Commissioners is a five-member board appointed by the City of Easton. The Authority provides for
significant housing opportunities within the boundary limits of the City of Easton under the supervision of HUD.
The Authority’s information would be disclosed if the December 31, 2016 audit report had been available at the
date of the City’s financial statements.
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NOTE1

CITY OF EASTON

NOTES TO FINANCIATL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

ASSETS
Current Assets

Non-current Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Non-current, Long Term Debt
Total Liabilities

NET POSITION

Net Invesiment in Capital Assets

Unassigned

Total Net Position

Total Net Position and Liabilities

CITY OF EASTON

CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT UNITS

AS OF DECEMBER 31. 2016

Easton Easton
Suburban Parking
Water Authority Authority Total
$ 8,882,319 3 178,256 $ 9,060,575
102,180,322 476,464 102,656,786
$ 111,062,641 3 654,720 $ 111,717,361
$ 3,223,534 $ 130,769 $ 3,354,303
30,800,064 497,750 31,297,814
34,023,598 628,519 34,652,117
68,841,538 476,464 69,318,002
8,197,505 (450,263) 7,747,242
77,039,043 26,201 77,065,244
$ 111,062,641 b 654,720 $ 111,717,361
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES. EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31. 2016

Easton Easton
Suburban Parking
Water Authority Authority Total
Operating Revenues
Parking Garage Revenues 3 - $ 1,203,763 $ 1,203,763
Water System Revenues 14,802,205 - 14,802,205
Total Operating Revenue 14,802,205 1,203,763 16,005,968
Operating Expenses
Parking refated administrative and direct operating - 280,781 280,781
Water system related administrative
and direct operating 8,584,209 - 8,584,209
Depreciation 2,973,161 86,642 3,059,803
Total Operating Expenses 11,557,370 367,423 11,924,793
Net Operating Income 3,244,835 836,340 4,081,175
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (479,653) (890,782} (1,370,435)
Change in Net Position 2,765,182 (54,442) 2,710,740
Capital Value Provided by Developers 1,141,411 - 1,141,411
Beginning Net Position 73,132, 450 80,643 73,213,093
Ending Net Position $ 77.039,043 i) 26,201 $ 77,065,244

GOVERNMENTATL-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Easton Municipal Authority - The Easton Municipal Authority filed articles of incorporation with the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on July 19, 2005.

In 2010, a Guaranteed Lease Revenue Note was signed with TD Bank to provide funds for a legal settiement.
The City sold the main fire station to the Easton Municipal Authority and entered into a Lease Agreement for the
full payment of principal and interest on the Note. The City and Authority refinanced the 2010 Note in the yvear
2014, and entered into a 2014 Note with Quakertown National Bank and is presented as a blended component unit.

Easton Redevelopment Authority - The Redevelopment Authority is responsible for administering various grants
which the City of Easton is the Grantee. All voting members of the Authority board are appeinted by the City of
Easton and the City can modify or determine Authority programs and budgets. The Authority’s information would
be disclosed if the December 31, 2016 audii report had been available at the date of the City’s financial statements.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.}

GOVERNMENTATL-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED STATEMENT QOF NET POSITION - CASH BASIS
GOVERNMENTAL -TYPE COMPONENT UNIT
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Easton Municipal

Authority
Assets
Future Lease Rental from Primary Gov't - City of Easton $ 2,191,000
Liabilities
Note Payable -
Net Position $ 2,191,000
CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS, DISBURSEMENTS
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
GOVERNMENTAL -TYPE COMPONENT UNIT
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016
Easton Municipal
Authority
Receipts
Lease Payments from Primary Gov't - City of Easton $ 572,784
Total Receipts 572,784
Disbursements
Note Payments:
Interest Payments 53,784
Principal Payment 519,000
Total Dishursements 572,784

Change in Fund Balance

Cash Basis Fund Balance - Beginning

Cash Basis Fund Balance - Ending $



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAT, STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements:

The statement of net position and statement of activiiies display information about the reporting government as a
whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The statements distinguish between
governmental and business-type activitics. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, inter-
governmental revenues, and other non-exchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
be fees charged to external parties for goods or services. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipienis of
the goods or services offered by the programs and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Internal activity is limited to interfund transfers which
are eliminated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses. Net position is reported as restricted when
constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments) or imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation,

Fund Financial Statements:

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, sach of which is considered to be
separate accounting entities. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that
constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditure/expenses. Funds are organized into three
major categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the
governmental and proprietary categories. Each major fund is presented in a single column on the governmental fund
financial statements.

1. GOVERNMENTAT FUNDS:

These are the funds through which most government functions are furnished. The funds of the financial
reporting entity are described below:

a. General Fund - Accounts for all furnished resources except those required to be accounted
for in other funds. The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City and always

classified as & major fund.

b. Debt Service Fund - Used to account for accumulation of resources for, and payment of,
general long-term debt principal and interest and is classified as a major fund.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

1.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS: (Cont'd.)

C. Special Revenue Funds - Used to account for proceeds of specific revenue sources (other
than special assessments or mafor capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures
for specified purposes. Individual funds comprise this generic group and are presented in the
nON-Mmajor group.

d. Capital Reserve and Bond Funds - Used to account for the financial resources to be used for
acquisition, construction or improvement or major capital facilities and infrastructure.

PROPRIETARY FIIND:

Accounts for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises. These activities are financed primarily by user charges and the measurement of financial
activities focuses on net income.

Enterprise Funds - The City has leased all Water system facilities to the Easton Suburban Water
Authority. As a result of the leasing arrangement, the net asset value previously reported in a Water
Fund has been transferred to the Governmental Activities of the City.

Classified as an Enterprise Fund is the Sewage Treatment Plant Management Fund whereby the City of
Easton operates the sewage treatment plant and charges the operational costs to the Easton Area Joint
Sewer Authority.

Internal Service Funds - Internal Service Funds are used to account for operations that provide services
to other departments of the government on a cost reimbursement basis, The City maintains a Health
Benefits Fund, Liability Insurance Fund and Unemployment Insurance Fund which receives fund
transfers from the General, Sewage Management and Recreation Funds for the costs of health, liability
and unemployment insurances.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS: (Not included in government-wide statemenis)

Accounis for assets held by a governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for other funds:

a. Private Purpose Trusts - Account for the revenues and the expenditures of the Hugh Moore
Park Charitable Trust.
b. Emplovee Pension Fund Trust Funds - Used to account for assets held by the City in a

trustee capacity for the future payment of retirement payments to employees.



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Measurement focus is & term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various financial
statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement focus
applied.

On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental and
business-type activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus as defined in item b. below.

In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources” measurement focus or the “economic resources”
measurement focus is used as appropriate:

a All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only current
financial assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance sheets. Their operating statements
present sources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a given period. These funds
use fund balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at the end of the period.

b. The proprietary fund utilizes and “economic resources” measurement focus. The accounting objectives
of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net position (or cost
recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets and liabilities {whether current or non-current)
associated with their activities are reported. Proprietary fund equity is classified as net position.

c. Agency funds are not involved in the measurement of results of operations; therefore, measurement
focus is not applicable to them.

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both governmental and business-
type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recognized when eamed and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or ecenomic asset used.
Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are
recognized when the exchange takes place,

In the Fund Financial Statements, Governmental Funds and Agency funds are presented on the modified accrual
basis of accounting, Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when “measurable
and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount, Available means
collectible within the current period or within sixty days after year end. Expenditures (including capital outtay) are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which
are reported when due.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Cont'd.)

All Proprietary Funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting except the Internal Service Funds, which utilize the
modified accrual basis. The Internal Service Funds manage the health, liability, and unemployment insurance costs
related to governmental-type funds have been included in the net assets of total Governmental-Type Funds. Under
the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when carned and expenses are recorded when the Hability
is incurred or economic asset used.

These Funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the
Proprictary Fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City’s Proprietary Fund are
sewage treatment charges. Operating expenses for the City's Proprietary Fund include sewage treatment costs,
supplies, and administrative costs. All revenues or expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to Decemnber 1; 1989 are followed in
both the entity wide and Proprietary Fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with
or contradict gnidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the option of
following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and proprictary funds, subject to this
same limitation, The City has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.

Cash and Cash Fquivalents

To improve cash management, all cash received by the City is pooled under Act 72 of the Pennsylvania General
Assembly of 1971, Monies for all funds, including proprictary funds, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund
integrity is maintained throughout the City's records.

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition or available if required for

current operation or debt service.

[nvestments
Investments are reported at fair vatue, except for repurchase agreements and nonnegotiable certificates of deposit

which are reported at cost. Fair value is based on quoted market prices. Mutual funds are reported at current share
price. The fair value of the City's position in pooled investments is the same as the value of the pooled shares.
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NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Contd.)

Taxes, Other and Intergovernmental Receivables
Taxis Receivable -

General Fund -
Real Estate Taxes
Per Capita Taxes
Earned Income and Real Estate Transfer Taxes
Total Taxes Receivable

Other Receivables -
General Fund -
Utility Billings for Sewage, Water, and Refuse

Other Current Receivables - Local Sources
Total Other Receivables

Intergovernmental Receivables -

General Fund -
Funds due from Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority and Easton Parking Authority

Major Grant Funds -
Grants anticipated from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Funds due from Hugh Moore Park Trust
Total Intergovernmental Receivables

5 929231
470,521
1,675,702

$ 3,075,454

$ 2,624,104
418,719

$ 3,042,823

§ 630229

2,755,987
344,139

S 3730355

38



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Cont'd.)

Property Taxes

Based upon assessed valuations by Northampton County, the City's real estate valuation for taxation purposes
was $356,825,400, the City's Department of Finance bills and collects the City's property taxes. The schedule for

property taxes levied for year ended December 31, 2016 is as follows:

The municipal tax rate for ali purposes in 2016 was 24.950 Mills.

General Purposes 13.965
Debt Purposes 7.716
Recreational Purposes ) 3.269

Total Tax Rate 24.950 Mills
Prior to March 6 2% discount period
March 7 to May 6 Base payment period
After May 6 Penalty period

Reconciliation of assessed 2016 Real Estate Taxes:

Taxes Levied based upon adjusted assessment $ 8,899,039
Add: Penalties 127,299
Less: Discounts {119,003}
Cash Collections and Discounts (8,551,781)
Uncollected Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 355,554

Prepaid Items and Inventories

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded and prepaid

items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

All inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. The costs for inventories of

governmental activities are recorded as expenditures at the time individual inventory items are purchased.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCQUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Capital Assets

Capital Assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastruciure assets, are reported in the
applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial
staternents. Capital assets are defined by the "Property Accounting Ledger Report" provided by the City's
independent appraisal firm as assets which an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful
life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical costs at time of purchase or construction. Major
outlays for capital asset and improvement projects are capitalized as construcied, inclusive of ancillary costs.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the
assets' lives are not capitalized,

Land is not depreciated. Property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure of the City are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Major Building Structures 50 years
Pavilions 25 years
Traffic Signals 10 vears
Site Improvements/Paving/Lighting 20 years
Swimming Pools 50 years
Road & Utility Equipment 10 - 15 years
Telephone System 10 years
Computers 5 years
Copiers/Printers 5 years
Vehicles - Trucks, Sedans, SUV 8 years

Compensated Absences

The City's policies regarding vacation and sick time permit certain employees to accumulate earned but unused
vacation and sick leave. The liability calculated by the City for these compensated absences which is recorded as a
non-current liability in the government-wide financial statements amount of $2,141,778 in the Governmental
Activities. A portion of compensated absences reported by the Business Activities of $133,010. In the Fund
Financial Statements, Governmental Funds would report only the compensated absence liability payable from
expendable available financial resources.

Long-Term Obligations

In the Government-wide Financial Statements and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities, Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized
over the life of the bonds using the straight-tine method.

In the Fund Financial Statements, Governmental Fund Types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reperted as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures, except for refunds paid
from proceeds which are reported as other financing uses.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAT, STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2016

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Fund Balance Classifications

Fund Balance designations have been modified to comply with GASB 54, The new designations are as follows:

Non-Spendable - includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form or they are
legally or contractually required to be kept intact. The City's Non-Spendable fund balance consists of pre-paid
assets.

Restricted - includes amounts that are restricted for specific purposes by constitutional provisions, enabling
legislation, or externally imposed constraints. The City had no Restricted fund balance at year end.

Committed - includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes with constraints that are
established, and can only be removed, by formal action of City Council. All other Committed amounts are for
the designated purposes of those funds.

Assigned - includes amounts that are constrained by the Cily, without use of Resolution or Ordinance,
Amounts can be Assigned by someone other than City Council and are intended for a specific purpose, such
as grant matching funds or funding for future benefits and insurance costs,
Unassigned - all other fund balances not in the other categories.
In the situation where both Unassigned, Assigned, Committed, or Restricted funds are available for use, it is the
City's policy to consider Restricted funds to have been used first, followed by Committed, Assigned, and finally

Unassigned funds.

Fund Balance Policy

The City has adopted a Fund Balance Policy that states "the annual city budget prepared and adopted shall
include a December 31 general fund balance that is a minimum of 10% of budgeted general fund revenues for that
budget year." The target percentage is 15 percent of budget revenues. In addition, the policy states:

a. The Health Care Fund should maintain a balance of at least 33,000,000 by the end of the 2017 fiscal year.

b. The Liability and Casualty Fund should maintain a balance of at least $1,000,000 by the end of the 2017 fiscal
year.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Staternents

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures, such as
estimates useful lives in determining depreciation expense, OPEB cost and contributions made, and eamed income
tax rate variance revenue estimates; accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Pensiong

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources relaied to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Pennsylvania
Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) and additions to/deductions from PMRS’s fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by PMRS. The City also maintains an Aggregated Pension Fund
which is a single-employer defined benetit plan and acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the
City's police, firemen, and non-uniformed defined pension plans. For this purpose, benefit paymenis (inciuding
refunds of empleyee contributions) are recognized when due and payable, in accordance with the benefit terms
investments are reported at fair value.
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NOTE 3

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information

An annual budget is legally adopted prior to the beginning of each year for the General Fund and Debt Service
Funds on the modified cash basis of accounting. Additionally, the City adopts praject-length financial plans and
budgets for all Capital Projects Funds, and provides Resolutions for individual State Grant programs as they arise,
The financial statements reflect the legally adopted General and Debt Service Funds and does not present budgetary
comparisons for Capital Project or State Grant Funds. The City Council and the administration may male fransfers
of funds appropriated to any particular item of expenditure in accordance with the Third Class City Code and the
City's Home Rule Charter. The original budget of the General Fund has been modified to reflect amendments
through the year, and the classification of Fund Transfers to the Debt Service Fund from the General Fund for
pension debt obligations originally classified to various expenditure classifications of the General Fund.
Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal period. Budgetary information reflected in the financial statements is
presented at or below the level of budgetary control and include the effect of approved budget amendments.

DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS

Governmental and Business-Type Funds:

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions

Cash deposits are with depositories designated by the City and permitted by section 1804.1 of the Pennsylvania
Third Class City Code, as amended. The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand
deposits, certificates of deposit, and pooled treasury money market funds.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits may not be returned
to it. The City does not have a policy for custodial credit risk other than the provisions of City Code, At December
31, 2016, the bank balance of the City’s deposits with financial institutions was $6,757,136 compared to the carrying
amount of $6,623,850. The difference is primarity caused by items in-transit and outstanding checks. $6,257,136 of
the City's deposits were exposed to custodial risk which includes uninsured bank balances that are collateralized
with securities held by the pledging financial institution or its trust department or agent, but not in the City's name,
but are required to be collateralized in accordance with ACT 72 of the Pennsylvania State legislature of 1971 which
requires the institution of pool collateral for all government deposits and have collateral held by an approved
custodian in the institution’s name,

Investments

In accordance to GASB Statement No. 72, investments generally are to be measured at fair value. An investment is
defined as a security or other asset that (a) a government holds primarily for the purpose of income or profit and (b)
has the present service capacity based solely on ifs ability to generate cash or to be sold to generate cash.
Invesiments not measured at fair value continue to include, for example, money market investments, 2a7-like
exiernal investment pools, investments in life insurance contracts, common stock meeting the criteria for applying
the equity methed, unatlocated insurance contracts, and synthetic guaranteed investment contracts,

A government is permitted in certain circumstances 1o establish the fair value of an investment that does not have a
readily determinable fair value by using the net asset value per share of the investment.

This Statement requires measurement at acquisition value (an entry price} for donated capital assets, donated works

of art, historical treasures, and similar assets, These assets were previously required to be measured at fair value. The
City of Easton has no investments to report within the Governmental and Business-type Funds.
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Governmental and Business-Type Funds: (Cont'd.)

Investments {Cont'd.}

Fair Value is measured using a hierarchy of inputs using valuation techniques. The hierarchy has three levels. Level
1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs.

The valuation techniques should be consistent with one or more of the following approaches: the market approach,
the cost approach, or the income approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The cost approach reflects
the amount that would be required to replace the present service capacity of an asset. The income appreach converts
future amounts {(such as cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (discounted} amount.

Permitted investments for Third Class Cities are defined in Section 1804.1 of the Pennsylvania City Code as:
(1) United States Treasury bills.
(2) Short-term obligations of the Federal government or its agencies or instrumentalities.

3) Deposits in savings accounts or time deposits, other than certificates of deposit, or share accounts of
institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the National Credit Union Share
[nsurance Fund, the Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Pennsylvania Savings
Association Insurance Corporation, or their successor agencies.

(4) Obligations of the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full
faith and credit of the United States of America, of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its
agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth or of any political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of ifs agencies or instrumentalities backed by
the full faith and credit of the political subdivision.

(3} Shares of an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (54 Stat. 789,
151U.8.C. § 80a-1 et seq.), whose shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (48 Stat. 74, 15
U.S.C. § 77a et seq.), if the only investments of that company are in the authorized investments for city
funds listed in paragraphs (1) through (4).

6) Certificates of deposit purchased from institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, the Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance
Corporation or the Pennsylvania Savings Association Insurance Corporation, or their successor
agencies.

Fiduciary-Type Funds:

Investments

In accordance to GASB Statement No. 72, investments generally are to be measured at fair value. An investment is
defined as a security or other asset that (a) a government holds primarily for the purpese of income or profit and (b)
has the present service capacity based solely on its ability to generate cash or to be soid to generate cash.
Investments not measured at fair value continue to include, for example, money market investments, 2a7-like
external investment pools, investments in life insurance contracts, common stock meeting the criteria for applying
the equity method, unatlocated insurance contracts, and synthetic guaranteed investment coniracts.

A government is permitted in certain circumstances to establish the fair value of an investment that does not have a
readily determinable fair value by using the net asset value per share of the investment, 43
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Fiduciary-Type Funds: (Cont'd.}

Investments {Cont'd.)

This Statement requires measurement at acquisition value (an entry price) for donated capital assets, donated works
of art, historical treasures, and similar assets. These assets were previously required to be measured at fair value.

Fair Value is measured using a hierarchy of inputs using valuation techniques. The hierarchy has three levels. Level
| inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs.

The valuation techniques should be consistent with one or more of the following approaches: the market approach,
the cost approach, or the income approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities, The cost approach reflects
the amount that would be required to replace the present service capacity of an asset. The income approach converts
future amounts (such as cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (discounted) amount.

Private-Purpose Trust Fund -

Cost Fair Value
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Schwab Money Market - Cash Reserve Premium Account $ 151,846 $ 151,846
Tatal Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 151,846 § 151,846

Mutual Funds: )
Carporate Bonds $ 880,866 $ 868944
Corporate Stocks 1,402,850 1,802,581
Total Investments $ 2,283,756 $ 2,671,525

Permitted investments for municipal pension plans are defined in 20 Pa, C.S. Chapter 73:

1. Obligations of the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities or any political subdivision
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities,

2. Bonds, notes or other obligations issued, assumed or guaranteed by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development which contain an unconditional promise to pay by the International
Bank for Reconstruction and Development, or an unconditional guarantee by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development of the payment of the interest thereon regularly, and the principal
thereof on or before a specified date, in lawful currency of the United States,

3. Deposits int savings accounts or time deposits of share accounts of institutions insured by F.D.1.C.,
4. Real estate in Pennsylvania, with court approval,

3. Mutual funds,

6. Corporate bonds, and

7. Stocks.

Fair Value Measurement

The methodology of determining all investment fair values is Level 1, an input of unadjusted quoted prices for
identical assets liabilities in active markets that the pension fund has the ability to access. The preceding method
described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of
future values. Based upon fair values obtained from trust account records provided by Morgan Stanley and UBS,
the City believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with the other market participants, the use of
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a
different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Aggregated Pension Fund

Cash Deposits with Financial Institations

Investments

A detailed listing of investments is provided in a separately issued Aggregated Pension Report available at the
City’s finance department office. Cash, cash equivalents, and investments by major category consist of the
following as of December 31, 2016:

Cost Fair Value
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
State and Municipal Interest Checking Account $ 509,688 b 509,688
UBS Cash Reserves 327,158 327,158
Morgan Stanley DROP Account 31,664 31,064
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 868,510 $ $68,510
Investments:
Equity securities $ 8314771 $ 9,906,779
Fixed income securities:
Government Securities 2,101,797 2,020,875
Corporate Bonds 9,179,575 9,095,317
Asset-Backed Securities 828,549 814,194
Real Estate Fund 1,073,720 1,074,534
Mutual Funds 18,912,922 21,117,164
Total investments § 40411,334 $ 44,028,863
Investment Risk Factors

There are many factors that affect the value of investments. Equity securities are affected by economic
conditions, company earnings performance, and market liquidity. Fixed income securities are affected by such
factors as credit risk and changes in interest rates. Both types of securities may also be affected by custodial credit
risk, concentration of credit risk, and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a bond issuer will fail to pay interest or principal in a timely manner or that adverse
perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make such payments will cause the value of the bond to decline, Some factors
that may cause this are litigation, bankruptey, financial weakness and adverse political conditions, Credit quality is
evaluated and rated by independent bond rating agencies, such as Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s, The lower the
rating, the greater the chance of failure to make bond payments. However, a lower rating is usually offset by a
higher yield to comnpensate for the additional risk.

Some fixed income securities, including obligations of the U.S. government and those expliciily guaranteed by
the U.8. govemnment, are not considered to have credit risk. The Fiduciary Funds holdings of corporate bonds are
rated hetween BBB- and AAA by Standards and Poor’s; Mutual Funds are not rated. The Fiduciary Funds has no
policy in regard to credit risk.
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NOTE 4

CITY OF FASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Aggregated Pension Funds (Contd.)

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions (Contd.)

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a faiture, the Fiduciary Fund’s deposits may not be returned to
it. The Fiduciary Funds do not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At December 31, 2016, the bank balance of
the Fund’s deposits with financial institutions including cash equivalents was $1,000,992 compared to the carrying
amount of 81,020,356. The difference is primarily caused by outstanding checks. The Fiduciary Fund's deposits of
$586,846 were exposed to custodial risk which includes uninsured bank balances that are collateralized with
securities held by the pledging financial institution or its trust department or agent, but not in the Fiduciary Fund’s
name.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss associated with lack of diversification. Securities issued or
explicitly guaranteed by the U.8. government, mutual funds, external investment pools, or other pooled investments
are excluded from this review. The Fiduciary Funds do not hold any equities or non-U.S. government fixed income
securities that comprise more the five percent of total investments. The Fiduciary Funds have no policy regarding
concentration of credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of fixed income securities will decline due to rising interest rates.
Fixed-income securities with a longer term to maturity tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates and,
therefore, more volatile than those with shorter maturities. The Fiduciary Funds do not have a formal policy in
regard to interest rate risk. The Fiduciary Funds have contracted with UBS and Schwab to mitigate this risk while
providing enough cash to fulfiil pension cash requirements.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changcs in exchange rates could adversely affect deposits on an
investment’s fair value. The Aggregated Pension Fund has foreign cutrency risk through its investment in various
bonds and stocks and by its holdings of international mutual funds, The Aggregated Pension Fund has no policy
regarding exposure to foreign currency risk.

DEFERRED QUTFLOW QF RESOURCES

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) untii then. The City has four items that qualify for reporting in this category. One is
the deferred charge on refunding reported in the governmeni-wide statement of net position. A deferred charge in
refunding resulis from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price, including
associated premiums required to fund escrow requirements. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter
of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. This amount for the City is $316,334. The other items are the current
year contribution to the PMRS pension plan which will impact the net pension liability for December 31, 2016 in
the amount of $391,711 and differences between projected and actual earnings and differences between expected

and actual experience for pensions combined amount of $3,428.433 and changes in pension assumptions of
$121,456.
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NOTE4 DEFERRED INFLOWS QF RESOURCES (Cont'd)

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate sectien for deferred
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an
acquisition of net position that applies te a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of
resources (revenue) until that time. The City has two types of items, one which arises only under a modified
accrual basis of accounting, that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable
revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable
revenues from two sources: property taxes and uiility billings. This amount of $2,161,041 is deferred and
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amount becomes available. The second item is
reported on the government-wide Statement of Net Position representing the difference between expected and
actual experience in the pension plans in the amount of $715,069.

NOTES5 CAPITAL ASSETS

Governmental Activities Beginning Balance Additions Ending Balance

Capital Assets Not Depreciated:
Land, Easements, Rights of Way $ 7,672,373 $ - $ 7,672,373

Capital Assets Depreciated:

Land Improvements 1,074,216 - 1,074,216
Buildings & Improvements 34,588,404 1,057,963 35,646,367
Vehicles & Equipment 9,334,211 260,480 9,594,691
Infrastructure 1,967,720 857,316 2,825,036
Leased Water Plant Assels 20,590,352 - 20,590,352
Total Depreciated Capital Assets $ 67,554,903 $ 2,175,759 $ 69,730,662

;) 75,227,276 $ 2,175,759 $ 77,403,035

Less: Accumulated Depreciation:

Land Improvements $ 879,224 3 11,265 $ 890,489
Buildings & Improvements 3,824,940 719414 4,544,354
Vehicles & Equipment 6,200,216 421,357 6,621,573
Infrastructure 982,037 101,283 1,083,320
Leased Water Plant Assets 13,904,253 411,807 14,316,060

Total Accumulated Depreciation 25,790,670 1,663,126 27.455,796
Total Net Capital Assets $ 49,436,606 $ 510,633 5 49,947,239

Depreciation expense was allocated to expenditure classifications of the City of Easton as follows:

Governmental Activities:

General $ 749,307
Public Safety 416,281
Sanitation Activities 66,605
Highways & Roads 149,861
Other Public Services 66,606
Recreation 216,466

Total Depreciation Expense -
Governmental Activities § 1,665,126
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NOTES 6 INTERNAL RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

Receivable to: Payable from:

Health Benefit Fund General Fund § 750,000
Sewer Fund General Fund 3,092
Insurance Fund General Fund 823,886
Insurance Fund Sewer Fund 234,553
Insurance Fund City Hall Fund 24,000
General Fund Revolving Loan Fund 344,139
General Fund Major Grant Funds 1,187,354
General Fund Federal Programs Fund 29,956
General Fund Science Building Fund 100,600
General Fund Police Station Fund 131,810
Debt Service Fund General Fund 108,707
Recreation Fund General Fund 100,630
Revolving Capital Fungd General Fund 300,000
Liquid Fuels Fund General Fund g
General Fund Donation Fund 11,535
General Fund City Hall Fund 67,384
General Fund Sewer Fund 118,400
General Fund Liquid Fuels Fund 10
Major Grant Funds 2015 Capital Bond Fund 750,000
Major Grant Funds Fit-Out Construction Fuad 740,012
Tax-Exempt Project Note Fund Major Grant Funds 2,654,238

Activity between Funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from Other Funds (i.e., the current portion of interfund foans) or
“advances to/from Other Funds (i.e., the non-current poriion of interfund loans). Any residual balances outstanding
between the Governmental Activities and Business-type Activities are reported in the Governmeni-wide Financial
Statements as “internal balances”,

Interfund Transfers:

Transfers Out Transfers In

General Fund Debt Service Fund b 1,672,681
Sewage Treatment Fund Debt Service Fund 172,633
Recreation Fund Debt Service Fund 80,669
Alpha Building Fund General Fund 92,319
Alpha Building Fund City Hall/Transportation Center Fund 276,957
2015 Capital Bond Fund Major Grant Funds 750,000

$ 3,045,259

NOTE7 GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of changes in Debt Obligations for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Balance Balance Amounts Due
December 31, December within One
Type of Debt 2015 Increase {Decrease) 31,2016 Year
Governmental Activities:

Pension Debt Obligations $18,809,000 $ - $ 760,000 $ 18,049,000 § 809,000
Capital Debt Obligations 30,704,327 378,390 1,395,556 29,687,161 4,295,598
Capitalized Lease Debt Obligations 3,798,386 144,008 776,420 3,165,974 793,522
Post-Employment Benefits 6,228,214 553,610 - 6,781,824 Not Est.
Compensated Absences 2,137,125 4,653 - 2,141,778 Not Est.
Net Pension Liability 33,506,439 - 808,975 32,697,464 Not Est.
Total $95,183.491 $ 1,080,661 § 3,740,951 § 92523201 $ 5898120
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NOTE7 GENERAL LONG-TERM DERT (Cent'd.)

Balance Balance Amounts Due
December 31 December within Ong
Tvpe of Debt 2015 Increase {Decrease) 31.2016 Year
Business-Type Activities:
Compensated Absences $ 133,010 % - b - 5 133,010 $ 133,010
Pension Debt Obligations:
Federally Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2007, maturing through December 1, 2025 bearing
interest ranging from 6.73% to 7.17%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1. $ 9,729,000
Federally Taxable General Obiigatibn Bonds, Series A of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2029 bearing
interest ranging from 1.170% to 4.050%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1. 8,320,000
Capital Debt Qbligations
Federally Taxable, Grant Anticipation Note, Series of 2015, Lafayette Ambassador Bank, maturing through
September 29, 2017, maximum principal amount of $6,292,000. This Note is on a drawdown basis, interest
will be charged only on amount of principal withdrawn, interest rate equal to 30-day LIBOR plus 93 basis
points, not to exceed 9% per annum, 2,837,727
General Obligation Bond, Series of 2011, TD Bank, maturing through November 15, 2026, bearing interest
ranging from 2.00% to 4.05%, principal and interest payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15. 4,885,000
General Obligation Note of 2014, maturing through 2023, bearing interest of 3.65%, interest and principal
payable June 15 and December 135, 524,435
General Obligation Bond, Series of 2013, maturing through December 31, 2027, bearing interest ranging from
2.00% to 4.05%, payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15. 16,900,000
Federally Taxable, General Obligation Bond, Series B of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2024, bearing
interest ranging from 1.170% to 3.450%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1. 685,000
General Obligation Bonds, Series C of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2029, bearing interest ranging
from 2.00% to 3.00%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1. 3,855,000
Other Financing Obligations
Master Lease Purchase Agreement, 2009, First Columbia Bank, 180 monthly payments, final maturity year
2022, 534,628
Guaranteed Lease Revenue Note of 2014, Faston Municipal Authority, Quakertown Nationa} Bank, maturing
through year 2020 bearing interest of 2.20%, interest and principal payable semi-annually February 15 and
August 15, 2}191’000
Master Lease Purchase Agreement, Fulton Bank, National Association, dated September 2, 2015, 5 year, semi-
annual payments of $36,750 on March 5 and September 5, maturing through the year 2020, bearing interest of
2.47%. 245,000
Governmental Lease Purchase Agreement, dated August 10, 2015, TCF Equipment Finance, a division of TCF
National Bank, quarterly payments of $17,220, maturing through May 2018 bearing interest of 2.93%, 100,714
Governmental Lease Purchase Agreement, dated August 10, 2015, TCF Equipment Finance, a division of TCF
National Bank, annual payments of $49,377, maturing through July 2018 bearing interest of 2.89%. 94,631
Total $50,902,135
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NOTE7 GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT (Cont'd.)

Annual requirements for combined principal and interest costs for Pension, Capital, and Other Financing

Obligations are as follows:

Total
Year Ended Principat Interest Debt Service
2017 $ 5,898,179 $ 1,999,364 £ 7,897,543
2018 3,143,153 1,825,723 4,968,876
2019 3,190,622 1,693,463 4,884,085
2020 3,286,934 1,567,339 4,854,273
2021 3,390,454 1,426,997 4,820,451
2022 3,469,936 1,280,973 4,750,909
2023 3,574,857 1,124,575 4,699,432
2024 3,739,000 © 960,062 4,699,062
2025 3,919,000 779,358 4,698,358
2026 4,135,000 566,340 4,701,340
2027 4,255,000 444,716 4,699,716
2028 4,365,000 333,915 4,698,915
2029 4,535,000 164,347 4,699,347
Totals $50,902,135 $14,170,172 3 65,072,307

Debt service payments of principal and interest are recorded within the Debt Service Fund.
The Sources of Revenues to fund the debt service payments are as follows:

Allocation of Real Estate Taxes $ 2,954,767

Fund Allocations - in addition to the above allocation of real estate taxes as provided in the tax millage ordinance;
the funding for debt service costs is also in the form of transfers which are apportioned to cost categories within the

General Fund, Recreation Fund and Sewage Treatment Fund as follows:

General Fund:

General 365,702
Public Safety 1,035,930
Health and Welfare 8,067
Sanitation 93,173
Highways 137,138
Other Public Works 16,537
Urban Development 16,134
Recreation Fund Allocation 80,669
Sewage Treatment Fund Allocation 172,633
Total Funds Allocations 1,925,983

Total Sources of Revenues $ 4,880,750
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DECEMBER 31, 2616

RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Significant losses are covered by commercial insurance
for ali major programs including stop-loss insurance. For insured programs, management believes such coverage is
sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses to the City. Any materiat losses that would not be covered by
insurance would be presented in Note 15.

The City of Easton has been granted an exemption from insuring its workers’ compensation and occupational
disease liability under the provisions of the Pennsylvania Workers’ Compensation Act by the Department of Labor
and Industry, Bureau of Workers” Compensaticn, Self-Insurance Fund created May 1, 1993, must be in existence to
provide a source of funds sufficient to pay the benefits incurred under the act. The funding level as established by
the Administrator, AVI, Inc., and the City of Easton was $525,025. The City did contribute this amount te the Trust
during the 2016 year. As of December 31, 2016, assets of the Trust Fund amounted to $23,613. As presented in a
Separate Financial Report available at the City’s business office, the Trust assets are further designated in the
amount of $19,471 for medical, lost wage and contingencies.

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City of Easton offers its’ employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code section 437(B). The Plan permits participants to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
Empower Retirement and Valic are the managers of the plans and have reported the value of the Deferred
Compensation Plan to be $1,687,897 and $4,382,845, respectively as of December 31, 2016.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS
Aggregate Pension Fund

The Aggregate Pension Fund is comprised of the Non-Uniformed, Police, and Firemen's Retirement Funds.
The Aggrepate Pension Fund is funded by contributions from the City, participating employees, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and earnings from the Funds' investments.

In addition to Act 203, the City of Easton Aggregate Pension Trust Fund is also governed by implementing
regulations adopted by the Public Employee Retirement Commission published at Title 16, Part IV of the

Pennsylvania Code and applicable provisions of various other state statutes including, but not limited to, the
following:

Act 147 - Special Ad Hoc Municipal Police and Firefighter Postretirement Adjustment Act, Act of
1988, (P.L. 1192, No. 147), as amended, 53 P.S. Section 896.101, et seq.

Act 399 - Optional Third Class City Charter Law, Act of July 15, 1957, (P.L. 901, No. 399), as
amended, 53 P.S. Section 41101, et seq.

The Aggregate Pension Fund acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the City's police,
firemen, and non-uniform defined benefit pension plans. The police pension plan is governed by Article 147
of the City's codified ordinances. The firemen's pension is governed by Article 149 of the City's codified
ordinances. The officers’ and employees’ pension is governed by Article 143 of the Cley's codified ordinances.
The plans are also affected by the provisions of collective bargaining agreements between the City and its'
police officers, firefighters, and non-uniformed employees.

Municipal officials who are charged with administering municipal pension plans are recommended to utilize
the handbook "Municipal Pension Plans" as prepared by the Bureau of Municipal Pension and Fire Relief
Audits. The handbook does not encompass all aspects of plan management, but outlines pertinent information
concerning responsibilities of all municipal officials. The City of Easton has delegated the Authority to UBS
Financial Services to hold the Aggregated Pension Fund assets in trust; various financial advisor's manage the
investment of assets in accordance with individual investment policies established by the Aggregated pension
Board of Trustees.

City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Officers' and Employees' Pension Plan is a single employer defined
benefit plan controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 205, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a fevel two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this levei requires the City,

among other things, to aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2016

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 68
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 0
Active Members 2

Total Members 70
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)

City of Easton Officers and Employees Penston Plan {cont'd)

Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time officers and emplioyees who were employed prior to December 31, 1978, and who are not
members of the police force or fire department join the Plar upon employment.

Normal Retirement
A member is eligible for normal retirement after attainment of age 55 and completion of 20 years of service.

The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the member’s lifetime with payments continuing after
the member's death to the surviving spouse equal to 30% of the initial amount payable to the member.

The amount of monthly pension is equal to 30% of average monthly compensation, plus an incremental
pension equal to 1.25% of average monthiy compensation for each complete year of service in excess of 20
years,

Average monthly compensation is based upon the final annualized basic compensation rate, including
longevity payments, or the average monthly compensation, including longevity payments, received during the
fast five years of employment, if higher.

Late Retirement

If a member continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late refirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a member who has completed 12 or more years of service is disabled, he is eligible for a disability pension.
The disability pension is equal to the benefit accrued to the date of disability.

Death Benefits

If a member with 12 or more years of service dies, a death benefit is payable to his spouse. The benefit is equal
to 50% of the members pension he was or would have received at the date of death prorated for less than 20
years.

Vesting

A member's benefits vest upon the completion of 12 years of service. The vested benefit is a deferred pension
beginning at normal retirement equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination.

Accrued Pension
The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal

retirement benefit, multiplied by the ratio of the number of years of service to date to the total number of years
of service projected at normal retirement.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd}
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)
Contributions

Members contribute 6.5% of pay.

There is no interest on contributions.
Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to
obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2016:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 45.50%

International Equity 9.00%

Fixed Income 40.50%

Real Estate 5.00%

Cash 0.00%
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Officers and Employees Pension Plan, other than those
issued or explicitly guaranteed by the UJ.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of
the plan's fiduciary net position. At December 31, 2016, the Officers and Employees Pension Plan does not hold
any equities or non-governmental fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total
investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 9.57%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liabitity was determined
by roliing forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2015. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension Hability of the Officers and Employees Pension Plan at December 31, 2016 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 8,865,883
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 4,647,159
Net Pension Liability § 4,218,724

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability - 52.42%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Balances at 12/31/2015 5 9,273,050 $ 4,552,353 § 4,720,697
Service Cost 14,396 - 14,396
Interest Cost 656,144 - 656,144
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience - - -
Changes of Assumptions - - -
Contributions - employer - 782,506 {782,506)
Contributions - member - 7,288 (7,288)
Net Investment Income - 396,395 (396,393)
Benefit Payments, including -
refunds of member contributions (1,677,707) (1,077,707) -
Administration Expense - (13,676) 13,676
Other Changes - - -
Net Changes {407,167) 94,806 (501,973)
Balances at 12/31/2016 8,865,883 4,647,159 4,218,724

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% {average, including inflation}
Investment Rate of Return 7.50% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the RP2000 Table for males and females. This table does not include projected
mortality improvements.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Allocation . Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 9.00% 4,50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Cash 0.00% 0.00% - 1.06%

Ln
wn
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as
well as amortization of the unfunded lability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liabitity would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or |-percentage-point higher than the current rate: :

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.50%) {7.50%) (8.50%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $4,790,071 $4,218,724 $3,710,214

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended December 31, 2016, the City recognized pension expense of $430,609. At December 31, 2016,

the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources refated to pensions from the
following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resoureeg

Difference between expected and actual experience $ - 5 -

Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments 291,162 -

Total $ 291,162 § -

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions wili be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2017 $ 97,054
2018 97,054
2019 97,054
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Firemens' Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan
controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances,

In accordance with Act 205, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the City,
among other things, 10 aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2016

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 45
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 1
Active Members 41
Total Members 87
Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time members of the fire department join the Plan upon employment.

Normal Retirement

A participant is eligible for normal retirement after attainment of age 50 and completion of 20 years of service.
The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the pariicipant’s lifetime, with payments continuing
after the participant's death to the surviving spouse or to dependent children under the age of 18 cqual to 100%
of the amount payable to the participant at the time of the participant's death.

For members hired before January 1, 2013, the amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly
compensation plus 2.5% of average monthly compensation per year of service in excess of 20 years of service
{Maximum 75% of compensation) plus an incremental pension of 1.25% times average monthly compensation
for each full year of service (before age 65) in excess of 20 years, up to an additional $100 per month.

For members hired after January I, 2013, the monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly

Average monthly compensation (compensation includes longevity pay, degree pay, extra duty pay, and birthday
pay) is based upon the highest year within the last five years of employment, or the final rate of pay (base pay
plus longevity), whichever is greater.

Late Retirement

If a participant continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a participant is disabled in the line of duty, regardless of service, he is eligible for a disability pension. The
disabled participant shall receive full benefits provided by the Plan.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Death Benefits

If a member who has worked more than 20 years of service dies or is killed in service, a death benefit is
payable to a surviving spouse or children under age 18 in an amount equal io the 100% of the monthly pension
had the participant been eligible to retire at the time of death.

If a member with at feast 12 but less than 20 years of service dies who is not subject to the above death benefit,
a death benefit is payable equal to 25% of compensation.

Vesting

Effective January 1, 2009, a participant's benefits vest upon completion of 12 years of service. The vested
benefit is a deferred pension equal to the benefit acerued to the date of termination. A participant must continue
contributing to the Plan until they would have reached age 50.

Accrued Pension

The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal
retirement benefit multiplied by the ratio of the number of years and days of service to date to the total number
of years and days of service projected at normal retirement,

Contributions

If an actuarial study shows the Plan to have sufficient assets to fund plan benefits, member contributions may
be suspended,

Members contribute 6.5% of pay. Members hired afier January 1, 2013, contribute 6.5%, until the fund
becomes Level One distress or less using 2011 actuarial assumptions, at which point they contribute 5.0% of
pay.

Members contributions are not credited with interest.

Any and all monies in a participant's voluntary contribution and interest accounts were distributed out of the
Plan on or before December 31, 2005,

Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP)

Effective April 2, 2007, an active member who has met the eligibility for normal retirement may elect to
participant in the deferred refirement option program for a period of not less than one year or more than three
years. His monthly pension shall be calculated as of his date of participation in the program and shall be
accumulated with fund earnings and distributed in a lump sum at retirement. During 2016 the Aggregated
Pension Trust Fund transferred $121,121 to Motgan Stanley for two participants in accordance with a DROP
Arrangement. $204,169 was distributed in accordance with a DROP arrangement. The DROP account balance
at December 31, 2016 was $123,527.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund {cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Investment Policy
The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Apggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an invesiment strategy to

obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2016:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 45.50%

International Equity 9.00%

Fixed Income 40.50%

Real Estate 5.00%

Cash 0.00%
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Firemen's Pension Plan, other than those issued or
explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Geovernment, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan's
fiduciary net position. At December 31, 2016, the Firemens' Pension Plan does not hold any equities or non-
governmental fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 9.57%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liability was determined
by roiling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2015. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Firemens' Pension Plan at December 31, 2016 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability 3 28,774,500
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 20,150,809
Net Pension Liability $ 8,623,601

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability - 70.03%



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2016

NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)

Changes in the Net Pensionr Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(&) (b} {a) - (b)
Balances at 12/31/2015 $ 27,583,099 ¥ 18,133,897 $ 9,449,202
Service Cost 585,056 - 585,056
Interest Cost 2,046,325 - 2,046,325
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience - - -
Changes of Assumptions - - -
Contributions - employer - 1,418,639 (1,418,639
Contributions - member - 206,592 {206,592)
Net Investment Income - 1,849,123 (1,849,123)
Benefit Payments, including -
refunds of member contributions {1,439,980) (1,439,980) -
Administration Expense - (17,462) 17,462
Other Changes - - -
Net Changes 1,191,401 2,016,912 {825,511)
Balances at 12/31/2016 28,774,500 20,150,809 8,623,691

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 7.50% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the RP2000 Table for males and females. This table does not include projected
mortality improvements.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allgcation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 43.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 8.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Cash 0.00% (.00% - 1.00%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit paymenis to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as
weil as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
{6.50%) (7.50%) (8.50%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 11,870,411 $ 8,623,691 $ 5,897,912

Pension Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended December 31, 2016, the City recognized pension expense of $1,213,720. At December 31, 2016,

the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ - § 417819
Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 734,673 -
Total $ 734,673 § 417819

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2017 $ 137,803
2018 137,803
2019 137,803
2020 (96,555)
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont’d)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Police Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan
controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 203, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
pariicipate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the

City, among other things, to aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City inte a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2016

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 78
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Renefits 0
Active Members 60
Total Members 138
Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time members of the Bureau of Police join the Plan upen employment,

Normal Retirement

A participant is eligible for normal retirement after attainment of 20 years of service. A participant will be
automatically retired upon attainment of age 70.

The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the participant's lifetime, with payments continuing
after the participant’s death to the surviving spouse or to dependent children under the age of 18 equal to 100%
of the amount payable to the participant at the time of the participant's death.

The amount of monthly pension is equal to 30% of average monthly compensation pius an incremental pension
of 2.5% times average monthly compensation for each full year of service in excess of 20 years, up to a
maximum of 75% of average monthly compensation after 30 years of service.

Average monthly pay is based upon the final rate of pay (1/12th of annual salary plus degree pay, longevity
pay, personal day buyback, holiday pay, scheduled shift differential, and acting rank pay for regularly
scheduled shifts).

Late Retirement

If a participant continues. working afier his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a participant who has 15 years of service is disabled, he is eligible for a disability pension. The disability
pension is equal to the normal retirement pension earned to date.

If a participant who has at least 12 years of service but less than 15 years of service is disabled, he is eligible
for a disability pension. He shall receive the portion of the full pension as the period of his service up to the
date of his termination bears to 15 years of service.

If a participant who has less than 12 years of service is disabled in the line of duty, he is eligible for a disability
pension. He shall receive the portion of the full pension as the period of his service up to the date of

termination bears to 20 years of service. 62



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2016

NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan {cont'd)
Death Benefits

If a member who is eligible for retirement dies or is killed in service, a death benefit is payable to a surviving
spouse or children under age 18 in an amount equal to the 100% of the member's normal retirement benefit,

Vesting

A participant's benefits vest upon completion of 12 years of service. The vested benefit is a deferred pension
equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination. A participant must continue contributing to the Plan
untit they would have reached 20 years.

Accrued Pension

The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal
retirement benefit muitiplied by the ratio of the number of years and days of service to date to the total nrumber
of years and days of service projected at normal retirement.

Contributions

Members contribute 6.0% of pay (plus $0.50 per week until age 60).

Member contributions are not eredited with interest.
Deferred Retirement Optien Program (DROP)

A member with at least 20 years of service but not more than 22 years shall be eligible to enter the DROP. The
DROP peried cannot exceed three years. The DROP provisions shall follow Act 44 of 2009.

Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to
obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2016:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Domestic Equity 45.50%
International Equity 9.00%
Fixed Income 40.50%
Real Estate 5.00%
Cash 0.00%
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan {cont'd)
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Police Pension Plan, other than those issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 3% or more of the plan's fiduciary
net position. At December 31, 2016, the Police Pension Plan does not hold any equities or non-govemnmental
fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments,

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 9.57%. The money-weighted rate of retumn expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension Hability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liability was determined
by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2015, No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Firemens' Pension Plan at December 31, 2016 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 38,198,434
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 20,200,085
Net Pension Liability $ 17,998,349

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability -52.88%

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(@ (b) (8)-(b)
Balances at 12/31/2015 $ 36,850,393 $18,199,139 $ 18,651,254
Service Cost 848,805 - 848,805
Interest Cost 2,743,288 - 2,743,288
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience - - -
Changes of Assumptions - - -
Contributions - employer - 2,246,363 ) (2,246,363)
Contributions - member - 292,681 (292,681)
Net Investment Income - 1,722,920 {1,722,920)
Benefit Payments, including “
refunds of member contributions (2,244,052) (2,244,052) -
Administration Expense - (17.066) 17,066
Other Changes - ) 100 {100)
Net Changes 1,348,041 2,000,946 (652,905
Balances at 12/31/2016 38,198,434 20,200,085 17,998,346
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2016 actvarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to alf periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investrnent Rate of Return 7.50% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the RP2000 Table for males and females. This table does not include projected
mortality improvements.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan invesiments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected fuure real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 9.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Cash 0.00% 0.00% - 1.00%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The pension plan's fiduciary net
position is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive
employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension Hability. The employer has always met the
funding requirements of Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984, Act 203 requires full funding of eniry age normal
cost plus plan expenses, as well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%, as well

as what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-
point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.50%) (7.50%) (8.50%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 23,155,592 $ 17,998,349 $14,109,353
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)

City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd}

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the City recognized pension expense of $2,329,747. At December 31, 2016,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the

following sources:

Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resonrces
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 492,141 $ -
Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 850,600 -
Total $ 1,342,741 5 -

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be

recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2017 $ 388,727
2018 388,727
2018 388,727
2020 12,511
Thereafier 164,049
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Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System - Pension Fund

The City of Easton participates in the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) which is an agent
multiple-employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative
ageni for participating municipal pension plans. According to Governmensial Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statements No. 67 and 68, PMRS is required to allocate/distribuie all funds o the respective
participating employers for financial reporting purposes, to determine the respective employer "plan fiduciary
net position.” PMRS has determined that net investment income or loss and administrative expenses wil be
allocated to the employer/municipality accounts pro-rata based on their beginning Fiduciary Net Position
balance adjusted for cash flows throughout the year. The " Additional adminisirative expenses" are the expenses
in excess of the "PMRS administrative expenses” (i.c. $20 per participant expense paid by each plan). The
"PMRS investment income" is based upon the regular and excess interest used to credit accounts annually. The
"Market value investment income" reflects the investment income/loss during the year net of PMRS investment
income and the income/loss due to the difference between expected and actual asset values, including the
impact from allocation of assets in support of the underlying retiree liabilities. PMRS issues a separate
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the CAFR can be obtained by contacting the
PMRS accounting office or on their website www.pmrs.state.pa.us

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The plan's financial statements are prepared cn the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are
recognized in the peried in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions to the plan are recognized
when due, in accordance with Act 205, as amended. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method used to value investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term invesiments are reported at cost, which approximates fair
value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates. Mortgage-backed securities are valued on the basis of future principal and interest
payments and are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. The fair value of real estate
investments is based on independent appraisals every three years. In years for which an appraisal is not
performed, real estate investments and investments that do not have an established market value are reported at
estimated fair values. Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date basis.

Funding Standards and State Aid

The City is required to make annual contributions to the plan pursuant to Act 2035, which specifies minimum
funding standards for municipal pension plans in the Commonwealth. Act 205 requires the Borough to budget
and contribute to the plan the minimum muricipal obligation, which includes both the normat cost of the plan
and an amortization contribution sufficient to amortize unfunded liabilities by target dates established under the
Act,

Act 205 also establishes a general municipal pension system state aid program, financed by a tax on the
premiums of casualty and fire insurance policies sold in the Commonwealth. The City is eligible for this aid for
its pension plan; however, the ultimate obligation to contribute the minimum municipat obligation to the plans
is the City's.
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Pension Plan (cont'd)

Plan Memberéhip
Membership of the plan consisted of the following at December 31, 2015:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 64
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 4
Active employees 115

Total Members

l

Plan Administration

The plan participates in the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) which is an agent multiple-
employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for
participating municipal pension plans. PMRS issues a separate Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR). A copy of the CAFR can be obtained by contacting the PMRS accounting office.

Benefits Provided
The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Costs-of-
living allowances are provided at the discretion of the plan.

Normal Retirement
Accrued Benefit available upon attainment of age 63

Farly Retirement
Benefit is available upon attainment of age 55 and 20 years of service

Vesting
A member is 100% vested after 5 years of service

Countributions
No member contributions are required

Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the PMRS
Board. The board places greatest emphasis on quality of investments and consistency in return. The following
was the System's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2013;

Asset Class Target Allocation
Equities ( large cap ) 25.00%
Equities ( small cap ) 15.00%
Equities ( international ) 15.00%
Equities { emerging markets ) 10.00%
Fixed Income 15.00%
Real Estate 12.50%
Timber 7.50%
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Pension Plan (cont'd)

Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Pension Plan , other than those issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan’s fiduciary
net position. At December 31, 2015, PMRS does not hold any equities or non-governmental fixed income
securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

Rates of Return are prepared by using the time-weighted rate of refurn methodology based upon market
values. The Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement Board's total investing portfolic was valued at
$1,996,572,502 as of December 31, 2015 which was an decrease of $51,391,527 from the December 31,
2015 valuation of $2,047,964,029. During the calendar year of 2015, the system recerded a net investment
return of $1,991,118.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2015, and the total pension liability was
determined by rolling forward the liabilitics from an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2014. No
significant events or changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The
components of the net pension liability at December 31, 2015 were as follows:

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
@ ) (@-(b)
Balances at 12/31/2014 $20,625,183 $ 15,939,897 $ 685286
Service Cost 816,351 - 816,351
Interest Cost 1,132,977 - 1,132,977
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience - - -
Changes of Assumptions 145,747 - 145,747
Centributions - employer - 401,999 (401,999}
Contributions - PMRS assessment - 4,000 (4,000)
Contributions - member - 427,351 (427,351)
Net Investment Income - 1,035,687 (1,035,687)
Market Value Tnvestment Income - (901,900) 901,900
Benefit Payments (1,522,955} (1,522,955) -
Administration Expense - (300) 300
Additional Administrative Expense - (43,176) 43,176
Net Changes 572,120 (599,294) 1,171,414
Balances at 12/31/2015 21,197,303 19,340,603 1,856,700

Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability in the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%
Salary Increases 3.00%-8.30% (including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 5.50%

Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 3% for those cligible for a COLA

Pre-Retirement Mortality Rates were based on the RP2000 Table for males and females. This table does not
include projected mortality improvements.
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Pension Plan (cont'd)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the toial pension liability was 5.50%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected 1o be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benelit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 203 of 1984, Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as well
as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 5.50%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if # were calculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.50%) (5.50%) {6.50%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 3,629,852 § 1,856,760 $ 365,097

Pension Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $772,904. At December 31, 2015, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following

sources:
Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience b3 - § 297,250
Changes of assumptions 121,456 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 1,059,857 -
Total $ 1,181,313 5 297250
Year ended December 31:
2016 $ 243,138
2017 243,138
2018 243,138
2019 130,357
2020 24,292
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan

Plan Description - The City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan is a single employer-defined benefit plan
controiled by plan ordinances. The Plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report.

Plan Membership - Membership consists of active, vested former and retired employees of the City of Easton Fire
and Police depariments. Non-uniformed employees existing retirees were grandfathered into benefits, no active
employees are eligible for benefits. Membership of the plan consisted of the following as of January 1, 2014;

Fire Police Non-Uniform Total
Active Participants 42 61 - 103
Vested Former Members - 1 - 1
Retired Participants 14 13 18 43
56 75 18 149

Summary of Benefits - Police

Eligibility for Benefits: Benefits are payable for members who retire after attaining 20 years of service.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement; Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan
unless the retired officer is eligible for similar coverage, without premium sharing, through cther employment of
histher spouse. While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization, health benefits,
prescription drug, dental and vision. While under age 65, the City sponsored plan to be provided to retirees is the
plan that is made available to the active members of the bargaining unit and shall auvtomatically change if the plan
for active members is changed. At age 635 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

For Officers hired prior to January 1, 2006 who retire prior to age 50, the retiree must reimburse the employer for
50% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage,

For Officers hired prior to January 1, 2006 who retired at age 50 or later, the retiree must reimburse the employer
for 40% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage.

For Officers hired after January 1, 2006, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 65% of the premium quoted
by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage while under age 65. At ages 65 and [ater, the retiree must
reimburse the employer for 100% of the premium..

Effective January 1, 2015, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 40% of the premium quoted by the
insurance company in order to maintain coverage while under age 65. At age 65 and older, the City will contribute
$100 a month toward health premiums. The retiree must pay the remaining premium.

Disability: The City will pay 100% of the premium for any officer granted a disability pension because of a job
related injury until such officer is 65.

Medical Benefits Payabie upon Death of Active Officer: Surviving spouses and eligible dependents may participate
in the employer's group medical plan. While under age 63, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and
health benefits, prescription drug, dental and vision. At ages 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

For Officers Killed in the Line of Duty, the employer will pay 100% of the premium quoted by the insurance
company in order to maintain coverage while the spouse is under age 65. At age 63, the surviving spouse must pay
160% of the premium guoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage.

71



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

NOTE 11 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN (Cont'd}

City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Cont'd)

Summary of Benefits - Police (Cont'd)

For Officers Killed outside of the Line of Duty, the surviving spouse must pay 100% of the premium quoted by the
insurance company in order to maintain coverage.

Dependents; Spouses are covered under the Plan indefinitely. Other dependents are covered as long as they are
eligible to be covered under the retiree’s benefits.

Grandfathered Provisions: Some existing retirees are covered under the previous provisions.

Summary of Benefits - Fire

Eligibility for Benefits; Benefits are payable for members who retire after attaining age 50 with 20 years of service.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement; Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan.
While under age 63, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and health benefits, prescription drug,
dental and vision. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

Retired prior to December 31, 2012:

The retiree must reimburse the employer for a specified percentage of the premium quoted by the insurance
company in order to maintain coverage. If the retiree has more than 30 years of service at retirement, he must pay
40% of the premium. If the retiree has between 25 and 30 years of service at retirement, he must pay 50% of the
premium. If the retiree has between 20 and 25 years of service at retirement, he must pay 75% of the premium.

Retired after December 31, 2012:
For Firefighters whe have 30 or more years of service at retirement, the retiree must pay 35% of the premium. If the
retiree has between 20 and 30 years of service, he must pay 60% of the premium. At age 65 and older, the City will

contribute $100 a month toward health premiums. The retiree must pay the remaining premium.

Dependents: Spouses are covered under the Plan indefinitely. Other dependents are covered as long as they are
eligible to be covered under the retiree’s benefits.

Grandfathered Provisions: Some existing retirees are covered under the previous provisions.

Summary of Benefits - Non-Uniformed Employees

Eligibility for Benefits: No active employees are eligible for benefits. Only existing retirees were grandfathered into
benefits.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement: Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medicat plan.
While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and health benefits, prescription drug,
dental and vision. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

Retirees pay 100% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order fo maintain coverage.

Dependents; Spouses are covered under the Plan indefinitely. Other dependents are covered as long as they are
eligible to be covered under the retiree's benefits.
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)

Annual Required Contribution and Net Benefit Obligation - The City's annual post-retirement benefit cost and net
benefit obligation for the year ended December 31, 2016 were as follows:

Fire Police Non-Uniform  Total

Estimated Net Benefit Obligation at

the beginning of the period $ 2,529,547 $3,778,089 $(79.422) $6,228,214
Annual Benefit Cost:

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $ 394,808 553,988 1,637 950,433

Estimated Interest on Net OPER 113,830 170,014 (3,574) 280,270

Estimated Adjustments to ARC {155,293} (231,943) 4,876 (382,360}

Annual OPEB Cost $ 353,345 $ 492,059 § 2,939 848,343

Contributions Made (Implicit Rate Subsidy - pay-as-you-go) {181,707y (106,582} (6,444) (294,733)

Estimated Net Benefit Obligation at the end of year $2,701,185 $4,163,566 5(82,927y  $6,781,824

Interest Rate
4.50%
Salary

An assumpticn for salary increases is used only for spreading contributions over future pay under the entry age normal cost
method. For this purpose, salary increases are assumed to be 5.0%

Withdrawal

Table D-1: Rates of withdrawal at selected ages:

Age Rate Age Rate Age Rate
20 5.5000% 35 2.5000% 50 0.0000%
25 5.0000% 40 1.0000% 55 0.0000%

30 4.0000% 43 0.5000% 60 0.0000%

Mortality

RP2000 Table (For Police, 50% of deaths are assumed to be in the Line of Duty.)
(This table does not included projected mortality improvements.)
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)
Disability

Fire: 1955 United Auto Workers Table
Police: SOA 1987 Group LTD Table - Males, 6-month elimination. 100% of disabilities are assumed to be service-related.

Retirement

Assumed 100% retirement after 30 years of service. Before 30 years of service, the rates for participants eligible to retire

Age  Rate Age  Rate Age Rate
Less than 30 0.0000% 53 5.0000% 57 20.0000%
30 5.0000% 54 5.0000% 58 20.0000%
51 5.0000% 55 20.0000% 59 20.0000%
52 5.0000% 56 20.0000% o0+ 106.0000%

Percent of Eligible Retirees Electing Coverage in Plan

Police: 75% are assumed to elect coverage upon retirement. 100% are assumed to elect coverage upon disability.
100% of surviving spouses are assumed to elect coverage upon death of an active officer killed in the Line of
Duty. 50% of surviving spouses are assumed to elect coverage upon death of an active officer killed outside

Fire; 75% are assumed to elect coverage.

Vested Former Members: 50% elect coverage at age 62, or current age, if older.

Percent Married at Retirement

60% of employees are assumed to be married and have a spouse covered by the plan at retirement.

Spouse Age

Wives are assumed to be two years younger than their husbands.

Dependents

Non-spouse dependents are either assumed to not have coverage or have negligible costs in the plan.

Per Capita Claims Cost

Making use of weighted averages for various plan designs, the per capita cost for medical and prescription drug is based

on the expected portion of the group's overall cost attributed to individuals in the specified age and gender brackets.

Dental and vision costs are assumed to not vary with age or gender. The resulting costs are as Tollows:

Medical and Prescription Drug Combined (1)

Age Males Females
45-49 $ 7.074 3 10,216
30-54 $ 9368 $ 11,546
55-39 $11,410 $ 12,081
60-64 $ 14,889 $ 13,878

(1) Forretirees ages 63 and over, claims cost are assumed to equal the premium,
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)

Retiree Coniributions

Retiree Contributions are assumed to increase at the same rate as the Health Care Cost Trend Rate.

Health Care Cost Trend Rate

6.5% in 2014, decreasing by (.3% per vear to 3.5% in 2016. Rates gradually decrease from 5.3% in 2017 to 4.2%
in 2089 and later based on the Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model.

Actuarial Value of Assets
Equal to the Market Value of Assets
Actuarial Cost Method - Entry Age Normal

Under the Entry Age Normal Cost Method, the Normal Cost is the present value of benefits allocated to the year
following the valuation date. Benefits are allocated on a levei basis over the earnings of an individual between the
date of hire and the assumed retirement age. The Accrued Liability as of the valuation date is the excess of the
present value of future benefits over the present value of future Normal Cost. The Unfunded Accrued Liability is
the excess of the Accrued Liability over the Actuarial Value of Assets. Actuarial gains and losses serve to reduce or
increase the Unfunded Accrued Liability.

Participant Data
Based on census information as of January 1, 2014,

The City of Easton has not established a separate irrevocable Trust Fund for Other Post-Employment Benefits
and consequently has not provided funding in the form of contributions to a plan. The actuarial calculated Implicit

Rate Subsidy amount is estimated by the Actuary, in that claims and expenses for retirees are not tracked separately
and the City’s costs for retirees generally exceeds the amounts for premiums.



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

NOTE 12 LEASE AND OPERATING AGREEMENT

The City of Easton and the Easton Suburban Water Authority entered into a Lease and Operating Agreement on
December 5, 2006, to be effective January 1, 2007. The term of the Lease and Operating Agreement shall be twenty-
five (25) years from it’s effective date unless it is extended by muiuat agreement of the parties. The City desires and
intends to permanenily and completely cease providing water service to customers within its municipal boundaries,
as well and permanently and completely cease selling water to the Authority for distribution outside of the
municipal boundaries of the City.

Commensurate with the City’s abovementioned intent, the Authority desires and intends to assumne responsibility
for the operation of the City water supply and distribution systems inclusive of the water treatment and filtration
plant hereafter collectively referred to as the “Water System™ by utilizing facilities, equipment, materials, and
supplies currently used by the City for the purpose.

The Authority desires and intends to assume responsibility for administrative aspects of operating the Water
System and further intends to assume responsibility in determining the financial and operational feasibility of
capital improvements, repairs, replacements and upgrades needed to provide water service hoth within and outside
of the municipal boundaries of the City.

The 1958 Lease Agreement, as amended in 1991 for the distribution systems outside of the City, and the Water
Treatment Plant Renovation and Expansion Agreement between the parties remains in force, except as specifically
amended by the Lease and Operating Agreement. Water Purchase Agreements, as amended are hereby terminated
and are of no further force and effect.

The City hereby leases to the Authority all facilities of the Water System including, but not limited to, its water
filtration plant, reservoirs, pumping stations, lines, hydrants, meters, valves, blow-offs, customer services from main
to curb box, and all other facilities of the Water System. It is the intention of the parties that each and every City-
owned facility utilized in the supply and distribution of water within and outside the municipal boundaries of the
City is included under the terms of the lease.

The City and the Authority agree that in return for the Authority operating the Water System for the term of this
Lease, and retaining all revenues generated from it, the Authority has complied with the following payment
provisions:

a) Lump Sum Payment - One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) on the effective date of this Agreement;
by Debt Forgiveness - All sums due to the Authority from the City (approximately Eight Hundred

Thousand Dollars ($800,000.00) for water treatment plant design, water treatment plant action plan,
purchased water rates, etc. shall be forgiven on the effective date of this Agreement;
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CITY QF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2016

NOTE 12 LEASE AND OPERATING AGREEMENT (Contd.)

NOTE 13

NOTE 14

NOTE 15

¢} Reimbursement - Reimbursement of Authority-approved invoiced direct costs related to the Morgan
Hill tanks replacement project design and permitting and the City’s Large Meter Replacement Program;

d} Annual Payment - One Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,300,000.00), payable in twelve
(12) monthly payments beginning en the 15th day of the first month following the effective date of this
Agreement. The amount of the annual payment will be increased by two percent (2%) each year, and
calculated by multiplying the immediately proceeding annual payment by 1.02%:

) Variable Payment - The amount to be paid will equal one-third (1/3) of the capacity portion of the
tapping fees collected by the Authority.

Upon termination of the Lease and Operating Agreement, all property, of every type and nature, leased to the
Authority by this Agreement as well as all assignable permits and approvals needed to operate the Water System,

shall be transforred from the Authority to the City.

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT

Master Lease Agreement dated February 27, 2013, between the City of Easton and Easton Parking Authority. The
City is the owner of a certain parcel of real estate known as 123 and 181 South Third Street, Easton. The Lehigh and
Northampten Transportation Authority ("Lanta") is desirous of operating an intermodel transit passenger waiting
and service area ("Transportation Center") on a portion of the Land. The City and Parking Authority will construct
the Transportation Center on a portion of the Land and will include a parking garage and bus transfer facility that
will be developed to meet the specifications to be mutually agreed upon by LANTA, the City and the Parking
Authority. The City and the Parking Authority are entering into this Lease with respect to the portion of the Project
constituting the parking garage and Transportation Center. LANTA desires to sublease a portion of the Leases
Premises from the Parking Authority upon the terms and conditions more fully set ferth in the Sublease.

The term of this Lease shail commence upon the date hereof and shall extend {unless earlier terminated as provided
herein) through the date which is ninety-nine (99) years after the "Commencement Date" of the Sublease which is
the date of the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the LANTA Premises. The Parking Authority agrees to
lease the Leases Premises and further agrees and covenanis to pay the City, rent for the Leased Premises for the term
set forth in the amount of $1.00. In addition to Rent, the Parking Authority shall alse pay all water, sewer, electric,
heating, air conditioning, real estate taxes, if applicable, and all other utility charges for the Leased Premises, except
to the extent such charges are paid by LANTA. The Parking Authority may, at its own expense, perform all routine
maintenance of and repairs fo the Leases Prertises or request that the City perform such routine maintenance and
repair items in accordance with any existing management or similar agreement between the parties.

RESTRICTED AND COMMITTED FUND BALANCES

Restricted - The Liquid Fuels and Capital Project Funds are restricted in accordance with state regulations and debt
covenant provisions in the total amount of $2,524,831. The individual negative fund balances within the Police,
Science and Fit-out Capital Funds will be eliminated by the funding provisions within the 2017 Bond Issue realized
in August 2017.

Committed - Funds allocated within Debt Service and Other Special Revenue Funds are committed for future
purposes as they are individually established in the total amount of $1,322,031.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The City of Easton is also a defendant in various other lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not
presently determinable, in the opinion of the City’s counsel, the resolution of these various lawsuits will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition of the goverament.
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NOTE t6 ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY ZONES

In partnership with the Commeonwealth of Pennsylvania, the County of Northampton, and the Easton Area School
District, the City of Easton is excited to offer two special programs to encourage community and economic
development in various regions or zones throughout the City. The two current programs — the Keystone

Opportunity Zone (KOZ) program and the Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) program are
explained below.

Kevstone Opportunity Zone

Several sites in Easton were recently designated part of a regional Keystone Opportunity Zone (KOZ) by the State
of Pennsylvania. Unlike the NIZ and CRIZ programs in Alientown and Bethlehem, KOZs provide clear and
tangible tax benefits directly to business owners and residents that reside in the zones. The KOZ status for these
sites will expire in 2023.

The tax benefit offered in a KOZ site depends on whether the taxpayer is a resident in the KOZ
a business in the KOZ, and/or owns property in the KOZ as follows:

f

If your residence is in the KOZ — you ate not required 1o pay State and local income taxes. The State’s income
tax is currently 3.07%, while Easton’s Earned Income Tax is 1.95% (regardless of where you work). To be
eligible for these benefits, your permanent resident must be in the KOZ for 184 consecutive days during 2
given calendar year.

If your business resides in the KOZ — the business is not required to pay State Corporate Net Income Tax,
State Sales/Use Tax for items consumed in the KOZ, and a host of other State taxes. The business is also not
required {0 pay Easton’s Business Privilege Tax, which ranges from 0.1% to 0.25% of gross receipts
(depending on business type). To be eligible for these benefits, the business must increase its full time
employment by 20% in its firs{ year in the KOZ, make a significant capital investment in the property, or enter
into a lease agreement for the duration of the KOZ (or longer).

Ifyou are a property in the KOZ — If you own property in a KOZ, you are not required to pay County, City, or
Faston Area School District real estate taxes. To be eligible for these benefits, the property must stay compliant
with tax and zoning requirements.

KOZ sites in the City of Easton include the Simon Silk Mill complex, the Easton City Hall and Transportation
Center, the Governor Wolf Building, 118-120 Northampton Street, and a Silk Mill located in the South Side of
Easton. For more information on the above sites, ¢-mail Dawn Hart at dhart@easton-pa.gov. The Northampton
Street and Silk Mill in South Side properties wili qualify as KOZ sites in 2017.

Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) Program

The Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) program is designed to promote and provide
incentives for property investment by granting partial tax abatement on improvements made {o properties within a
designated LERTA District. Senate Bill #305 of 1977 enables the establishment of LERTA Districts in the State of
Pennsylvania.

Easton City Council passed an ordinance amending Chapter 331, Tax Abatements, of the Codes of the City of
Easton, Pa. to define the terms of the LERTA, set the exemption amount and schedule, and provide a procedure for
property owners t0 secure an exemption, The Easton Area School District Board and Northampton County Council
passed similar ordinances allowing the re-establishment of the LERTA program in Easton.

Property owners of residential, commercial, industrial, or any other type of property located within the LERTA
District are eligible for 10 year partial tax abaternent on property tax increases which are a result of substantial
property improvement and subsequent property reassessment by Northampton County.

Easton’s LERTA District was established by City Council Resolution #66-2012. Information on LERTA District
eligible properties is available at the Department of Planning & Codes on the 2nd floor of City Hall or online at
www.gaston-pa.gov in the forms and documents section of the Community and Economic Development tab.

For more information about the LERTA program, e-mail Dawn Hart at dhart@easton-pa.gov.
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NOTE 17 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND COMMITMENTS

The City of Easton authorized the issuance of the 2017A and 2017B Bond Issues, the proceeds from the Bond
Issues were received August 15, 2017. The Bonds were issued to provide funds for refunding and capital
acquisition commitments as follows:

2017A Fire Truck 3 570,000
2017A Potice Station 8,480,000
2017A Refunding Bond Issue of 2011 3,705,000
20178 City Hall Fit-out Costs 1,530,000

$ 14,285,000
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

Total Pension Liability 2016 2015 2014
Service Cost $ 14,396 3 13,710 $ 17,966
Interest Cost 636,144 685,520 713,728
Benefit Payments, including

refunds of member contributions (1,077,707) (1,105,482) (1,081,324)
Changes in Benefit Terms - - -
Changes in Benefit Experience - (10,039) -
Changes in Benefit Assumptions - - -
Net Change in total pension liability (407,167} (416,291) (349,830)
Totai Pension Liability - Beginning 9.273.050 9,689,341 10,039,171
Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) § 8,865,883 $ 9,273,050 $ 9,689,341
Plan Net Position
Contributions - Employer $ 782,506 $ B04,861 $ 524433
Contributions - Members 7,288 12,996 20,384
Net Investment Income 396,395 (123,831) 411,644
Benefit Payments including refunds

of member contributions (1,077,707 (1,105,482) (1,081,524)
Administrative Expense (13,676) (11,783) (10,590)
Other Changes - 6,704 920
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position $ 94,806 $ (416,535 5 (134,733)
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 4,552 353 4,968,888 5,103,621
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 4,647,158 4,552,353 4,968,888
City's net pension liabifity -

Ending (a) - (b) $ 4,218,724 $ 4,720,697 § 4,720,453
Plan fiduciary net position as a

percentage of the total pension liability 52.42% 49.09% 51.28%
Covered-employee payroll $ 143982 $ 180815 S 242604
City's net pension liability as a

percentage of covered-employee payroll 2930.04% 2610.79% 1945.74%
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CITY OF EASTON
_ AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered as a % of

Determined . From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroll Payroll
2007 3 58,255 3 58,255 L3 - b3 - b3 -
2008 60,647 60,647 - - -
2009 54,537 54,537 - - -
2010 43,788 43,788 - - -
2011 164,399 164,399 - - -
2012 157,440 157,440 - - -
2013 516,830 516,830 - - -
2014 324,433 524,433 - 242,604 216.17%
2015 804,861 804,861 - 180,815 445.13%
2016 782,506 782,506 - 143,982 543.47%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are caiculated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2013

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed

Remaining Amortization Period: 8§ years

Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.
Inflation: 3.00%

Salary Increases: 5.00%

Investment Rate of Return: 7.50%

Retirement Age: Age 65

Mortatity: RP2000 Table. This table does not include projected mortality improvements.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2013,

CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATED PENSION FUND
OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2016 2015

2014

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of invesiment expense 9.57% -2.72%

6.28%
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AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

CITY OF EASTON

FIREMENS' PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIARILITY

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liability - Beginning

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Centributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b}

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liabilify

Covered-employee payrolt

City's net pension liability as a
percentage of covered-employee payrolt

2016 2015 2014
$ 585056 § 557,196 § 571,789
2,046,325 1,943,501 1,900,331
(1,439,980) (1,041,050) (1,120,697

- (696,365) .
[,191,401 763,282 1,351,423
27,583,099 26,819,817 25,326,303
$28,774,500  $ 27.583,099 § 26,677.726
$ 1,418,639 § 1415944 $ 1,061,666
206,592 215,973 201,891
1,849,123 (493,043) 1,483,012
(1,439,980) (1,041,050) (1,120,697)
(17,462) (12,604) (14,084)
- 2,758 920
$ 2016912 § 87,978 § 1,612,708
18,133,897 18,045,919 16,291,120
20,150,809 18,133,897 17,903,828
$ 8623691 $ 9449202 §  8.773.898
70.03% 65.74% 67.11%
$ 3,782,072 § 3624573 § 3,081,522
228.01% 260.70% 284.73%
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CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

FIREMENS' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered asa%of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer {Surplus) Payrolt Payroll
2007 $ 286277 286,227 5 - 3 - $ -
2008 290,276 290,276 - - -
2009 405,504 405,504 - - -
2010 434,626 434,626 - - -
2011 434,219 434,219 - - -
2012 441,521 441,521 - - -
2013 1,073,905 1,073,905 - - -
2014 1,061,606 1,061,666 - 3,081,522 34.45%
2015 1,415,944 1,415,944 - 3,624,573 39.07%
2016 1,418,639 1,418,639 3,782,072 37.51%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2013
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method: Level Doltar Closed

Remaining Amortization Period: 14 years

Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.

Inflation: 3.00%
Salary Increases: 5.00%

Investment Rate of Return: 7.50%
Retirement Age: Age 55 and completion of 25 years of service.
Mortality: RP2000 Table. This table does not include projected mortality improvements.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2013.

CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

FIREMENS' PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE QF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2016 2015 2014

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense 9.57% 2.72% 6.28%
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CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

POLICE PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE QF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liability - Beginning

Total Penston Liability - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions .

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning
Ptan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending {b)

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a) - (b}

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension lability

Covered-employee payrolt

City's net pension liability as a
percentage of covered-employee payroll

2016 2015 2014
§ 848,805 $ 808,386 $§ 753,083
2,743,288 2,645,645 2,506,321
(2,244,052) (2,141,028) (2,085,465)

- 656,187 .
1,348,041 1,969,190 1,173,939
36,850,393 34,881,203 33,707,264
$38,198434 § 36830393 $ 34,881,203
$ 2246363 $ 2304171 $ 1,703,854
292,681 280,296 258,853
1,722,920 (495,045) 1,512,997
(2,244,052) (2,141,028) (2,085,465)
(17,066) (13,889) (14,803)
100 (1,088) 1,020
$ 2,000946 $  (66583) $ 1376454
18,199,139 18,265,722 16,889,268
20,200,085 18,199,139 18,265,722
$17,998,349 § 18651254 $ 16,615,481
52.88% 49.39% 52.37%
§ 4,758818 § 4755170 § 4,648,695
378.21% 392.23% 357.42%
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
POLICE RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuariatly Coniributions Contribution Covered asa%of

Determined From Deficiency/ Emplovee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroll Payrotl
2007 410,195 410,195 - - -
2008 414,750 414,750 - - -
2009 500,537 560,579 (42) - -
2010 485,312 485,312 - - -
2011 843,933 843,934 nH - -
2012 761,291 761,291 - - -
2013 1,684,086 1,684,086 - - -
2014 1,703,854 1,703,854 - 4,648,695 36.63%
2015 2,304,171 2,304,171 - 4,755,170 48.46%
2016 2,246,363 2,246,363 - 4,758,818 47.20%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are caleulated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Metheds and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2013

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed

Remaining Amortization Period: 16 years

Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.
Inflation: 3.00%

Salary Increases: 5.00%

Investment Rate of Return: 7.50%

Retirement Age: Age 55 and completion of 25 years of service.

Mortality: RP2000 Table. This table does not include projected mortality improvements,

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2013,

CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
POLICE PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2016 2015

2014

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense 9.57% -2.72%

6.28%



CITY OF EASTON

PMRS PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIO
LAST TWO FISCAL YEARS
Measurement Year Measurement Year
Ending 12/31/2015 Ending 12/31/2014
Total Pensien Liability
Service cost (beginning of vear) 5 816,351 $ 824,389
Interest (includes interest on service cost) §,132,977 1,110,052
Changes of benefit ferms - -
Differences between expected and actual experience - (445.874)
Changes of assumptions 145,747 -
Transfers - “
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (1,522,955) {612,033)
Net change in total pension liability $ 572,120 3 876,534
Total pension liability - beginning 20,625,183 19,748,649
Total pension liability - ending (&) 3 21,197,303 $ 20,625,183
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 401,999 $ 314,675
Contributions - PMRS Assessment 4,600 -
Contributions - member 427,351 422,268
PMRS investment income 1,035,687 1,069,742
Market value investment income (901,500} (563,895)
Transfers - -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (1,522,955) (612,033)
PMRS administrative expense (300) (3,780}
Additional Administrative expense (43,176) (41,025)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position L {599,294y § 585,952
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 19,939,897 19,353,945
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b} $ 19,340,603 $ 19,939,897
Net pension liability - ending  (a) - (b) $ 1,856,700 § 685,286
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liabifity 91.24% 96.68%
Covered - employee payroll 3 6,194,675 3 6,261,571
City's net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 29.97% 10.94%



CITY OF EASTON

PMRS PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS
LAST TWO FISCAL YEARS

Actuarially Contribution Contribution Covered Contributions

Determined from Deficiency/ Employee asa%of
Year Contribution Emplover {Excess) Payroll Payroll
2014 $302,232 $314,675 -$12,443 $6,261,571 5.03%
2015 $405,659 $405,99% -$340 $6,194,675 6.55%

Notes to Schedule

Vatuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of Janvary 1 for the odd valuation year at least
two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions were reported. Therefore, the Actuarially Determined
Contribution for calendar year 2015 is based upon the January 1, 2013 actuarial valuation.

A summary of the key assumptions and methods used to determine the contribution rates:
+  Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age
+  Amortization Period: Level dollar based upon the amortization periods in Act 205
*  Asset valuation method: Based upon the municipal reserves
*  Discount Rate: 5.50%
*  Inflation: 3.0%
*  Salary increases: age related scale with merit and inflation component
»  COLA increases: 3.0% for those eligible fora COLA
= Pre-Retirement Mortality: Males - RP-2000 with 1 year set back, Females - RP-2000 with 5 year set back
*  Post-Retirement Mortality: Sex distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality

For a complete listing of all assumptions and methods, please refer to the PDF file entitled PMRS 20135 Assumptions and
Methods for GASB.

Other Information: Plan Changes - please refer to the Plan's Act 205 filing.

87



Fire

Police

Non-Uniform

Employees

Total

CITY OF EASTON
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial
Accrued UAATL asa
Actuarial Actuarial Liability (AAL - Funded Percentage
Valuation Value of Entry Age Unfunded AAL Ratio Covered of Covered
Date Assets (a) (b) (UAAL) (b - a) (a/b) Payroll Payroll
1/1/2014 5 - 5 4170814 $ 4,170,814 0% $2,673,253 156.02%
1/1/2011 § - $ 5857160 § 5857160 0% $ 2,670,094 219.36%
1/1/2007 £ - ¥ 4,593,523 § 4,593,523 0% $ 2,500,399 183.71%
1/1/2014 - § 4,268,058 $ 4,268,058 0% $3,910,888 109.13%
yzon £ - § 5374465 $ 5,374,465 0% $3,589,015 149.75%
1/1/2007 £ - £ 6,068,000 $ 5,068,000 0% $3,014,487 201.29%
17172014 5 - § 26,665 $ 26,665 0% $ - N/A
17172011 5 - $ 157,349 $ 157,349 0% $ - N/A
1/1/2007 5 - 3 - b3 - 0% 3 - N/A
1/1/2014 5 - $ 8,465,537 ¥ 8,465,537 0% $6,584,141 128.57%
1/1/2011 $ - $ 11,388,974 $ 11,388,974 0% $6,259,109 181.96%
1/1/2007 $ - $ 10,661,523 § 10,661,523 0% £35,514,886 193.32%
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PALMER AND COMPANY
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

40 SOUTH FOURTH STREET
EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA 18042

CARL E. FLEMING, C.P.A, ELLSWORTH C. PALMER, C.PA., R M.A.
KEITH E. FLEMING, C.P.A. (Founder 1937-1965)
SCcoTT R. FLEMING TELEPHONE (610) 258-0401

FAX (610)252-9040
E-Mail: office@palmerandcompany.net

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Honorable Mayor and Member of Council
ity af E‘asfnn

Soaty Ul asiuil

Easton, Pennsylvania

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the
general and debt service funds budgetary comparison statements as of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania, as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
October 30, 2017. Other auditors andited the financial statements of City of Easton Redevelopment Authority and
Easton Housing Authority, as described in our report on City of Easton’s financial statements. This report does not
include the results of the other auditor's testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other
matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Easton, Pennsylvania’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Easton's internal control
over financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control dees not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstaterments on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a materfal misstatement of the entity's financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
mertit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was noi designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might be significant
deficiencies, or material weaknesses. Given these limitations, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's financial statements are
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance, Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Easton, Pennsylvania
October 30, 2017
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